

MODEL OF USING *VIETNAMOSASA PUSILLA* AS STARTING MATERIAL FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ETHANOL AND XYLITOL



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Naresuan University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science in Biotechnology 2023

Copyright by Naresuan University

MODEL OF USING *VIETNAMOSASA PUSILLA* AS STARTING MATERIAL FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ETHANOL AND XYLITOL



A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate School of Naresuan University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Science in Biotechnology 2023 Copyright by Naresuan University Thesis entitled "Model of using *Vietnamosasa pusilla* as starting material for the production of ethanol and xylitol"

By Suwanan Wongleang

has been approved by the Graduate School as partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the Master of Science in Biotechnology of Naresuan University

Oral Defense Committee

| (Professor Hunsa Punnapayak, Ph.D.) | Chair |
|--|---|
| (Associate Professor Siripong Premjet, Ph.D. | Advisor |
| (Associate Professor Duangporn Premjet, Ph. | Co Advisor D.) |
| (Associate Professor Anupan Kongbangkerd, | Internal Examiner Dr.rer.nat.) |
| | Approved |
| (Associate Pr De | rofessor Krongkarn Chootip, Ph.D.) an of the Graduate School |

| Title | MODEL OF USING VIETNAMOSASA PUSILLA AS | | |
|----------------|---|--|--|
| | STARTING MATERIAL FOR THE PRODUCTION OF | | |
| | ETHANOL AND XYLITOL | | |
| Author | Suwanan Wongleang | | |
| Advisor | Associate Professor Siripong Premjet, Ph.D. | | |
| Co-Advisor | Associate Professor Duangporn Premjet, Ph.D. | | |
| Academic Paper | M.S. Thesis in Biotechnology, Naresuan University, 2023 | | |
| Keywords | Vietnamosasa pusilla, Weed biomass, Phosphoric acid | | |
| | pretreatment, Sodium hydroxide pretreatment, Glucose | | |
| | recovery, Hydrolysis efficiency, Cellulosic ethanol | | |

ABSTRACT

Lignocellulosic biomass can be used as a renewable and sustainable energy source to help reduce the consequences of global warming. In the new energy age, the bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass into green and clean energy displays remarkable potential and makes efficient use of waste. Bioethanol is a biofuel that can reduced reliance on fossil fuels while minimizing carbon emissions and increasing energy efficiency. Various lignocellulosic materials and weed biomass species have been selected as potential alternative energy sources. *Vietnamosasa pusilla*, a weed belonging to the Poaceae family, contains more than 40% glucan. However, research on the applications of this material is limited. Thus, we aimed to achieve maximum fermentable glucose recovery and bioethanol production from *V. pusilla*. Two pretreatment reagents were applied, H₃PO₄ (phosphoric acid) and NaOH (sodium hydroxide), to disrupt the recalcitrant structure of the lignocellulosic biomass.

First section, *V. pusilla* feedstocks were treated with varying concentrations (70%, 75%, 80%, and 85%) of H₃PO₄ and then subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis. The results indicated that after pretreatment with different concentrations of H₃PO₄, the glucose recovery and digestibility at each concentration were markedly enhanced. Moreover, 87.5% of cellulosic ethanol was obtained from *V. pusilla* biomass hydrolysate medium without detoxification.

In the next section, the *V. pusilla* feedstocks were again pretreated by NaOH pretreatment-assisted autoclaving. The *V. pusilla* enzymatic hydrolysate was used as a substrate for bioethanol and xylitol synthesis. After treating the feedstock with varying concentrations (1%, 2%, 3%, and 4%) of NaOH at different temperatures (110 °C, 120 °C, and 130 °C), the glucose and xylose recovery yields were substantially higher than those of the untreated material. The hydrolysate generated by enzymatic hydrolysis was fermented into bioethanol using *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TISTR 5339. The liquid byproduct of ethanol production was utilized by *Candida tropicalis* TISTR 5171 to generate xylitol.

Overall, our findings reveal that *V. pusilla* biomass can be introduced into sugar-based biorefineries to produce biofuels and other valuable chemicals.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of this study was made possible through the generous financial support provided by the Development and Promotion of Science and Technology Talents Project (DPST) Scholarship, Naresuan University (NU), and the National Science, Research, and Innovation Fund (NSRF), Grant No. 2565A107000092, 2022. This funding is crucial in supporting education and research, without which this study would not have been feasible.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to those who have supported and guided me throughout the journey of completing this master's thesis.

First, I sincerely thank my thesis advisor, Assoc. Professor Dr. Siripong Premjet, for their invaluable guidance and unwavering support. Your commitment to excellence has been a constant source of inspiration. I also want to acknowledge my co-advisor, Assoc. Professor Dr. Duangporn Premjet, for their constructive feedback significantly enriched the quality of this thesis. Their collaborative approach and dedication to mentoring have been instrumental in shaping the research.

Additionally, I would like to thank the Department of Biology, Faculty of Science and Faculty of Agriculture Natural Resources and Environment, Naresuan University, for providing access to resources and support. The staff of the Science Laboratory Center extended the technical support.

Lastly, special thanks to my family and friends for their understanding, encouragement, and patience during this challenging period. Their consistent support provided the emotional strength required to handle the intricacies of academic research.

This work would not have been possible without the collective support and encouragement I received. Thank you all for being an integral part of this academic journey.

Suwanan Wongleang

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ABSTRACTC |
|--|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS E |
| TABLE OF CONTENTSF |
| LIST OF TABLES |
| LIST OF FIGURES |
| ABBREVIATIONS 1 |
| CHAPTER I OVERALL INTRODUCTION |
| Background |
| Research Objectives |
| Research Hypothesis |
| Research Significance |
| CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW |
| Global Energy Consumption |
| The Environmental Impact and Constraints of Fossil Fuel Utilization4 |
| Sustainable and Alternative Energy Source4 |
| Bioethanol |
| Bioethanol Trends |
| Bioethanol Production from Lignocellulosic Biomass |
| Lignocellulosic Materials10 |
| Cellulose10 |
| Hemicellulose10 |
| Lignin11 |
| Weed Biomass |
| Lignin Carbohydrate Complexes14 |
| Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Biomass15 |

| Physical Pretreatment | 15 |
|---|----|
| Chemical Pretreatment | 15 |
| Physicochemical Pretreatment | 17 |
| Biological Pretreatment | 19 |
| Biorefinery of Bioethanol Production | 19 |
| Value-Added Chemicals | 19 |
| CHAPTER III CELLULOSIC ETHANOL PRODUCTION FROM WEED BIOMASS HYDROLYSATE OF <i>VIETNAMOSASA PUSILLA</i> | 21 |
| Introduction | 21 |
| Materials and methods | 24 |
| Material | 24 |
| Sample preparation | 24 |
| Chemical composition analysis | 24 |
| Analytical Processes | 24 |
| Phosphoric Acid Pretreatment | 25 |
| Enzymatic Hydrolysis | 25 |
| Determination of Biomass Microstructure | 26 |
| Crystallinity of Biomass | 26 |
| Microorganisms | 27 |
| Preparation of Seed Culture | 27 |
| Preparing Biomass Hydrolysate for Ethanol Production | 27 |
| Medium for Bioethanol Production | 28 |
| Ethanol Production | 28 |
| Determination Growth of Microorganisms | 28 |
| Statistical Analysis | 28 |
| Results | 29 |
| Compositional Analysis | 29 |
| Impact of H ₃ PO ₄ on the Chemical Composition of V. pusilla Biomass | 30 |
| Enzymatic Saccharification of V. pusilla Biomass | 31 |

| Scanning electron microscopy assessment | 33 |
|---|---------|
| Effects of H ₃ PO ₄ on Cellulose Crystalline Structure | 35 |
| Ethanol Fermentation | 36 |
| Discussion | 39 |
| Compositional Analysis | 39 |
| Impact of H ₃ PO ₄ on the Chemical Composition of <i>V. pusilla</i> Biomass | 39 |
| Enzymatic Saccharification of V. pusilla Biomass | 40 |
| SEM assessment | 42 |
| Effects of H ₃ PO ₄ on Cellulose Crystalline Structure | 43 |
| Ethanol Fermentation | 44 |
| Conclusions | 47 |
| CHAPTER IV PHYSICOCHEMICAL PRETREATMENT OF <i>VIETNAMOSASA</i> PUSILLA FOR BIOETHANOL AND XYLITOL PRODUCTION | 1 48 |
| Introduction | 48 |
| Materials and methods | 50 |
| Sample preparation | 50 |
| Chemical composition analysis | 50 |
| Alkaline-Catalyzed Steam Pretreatment | 50 |
| Enzymatic Hydrolysis | 51 |
| Determination of Biomass Microstructure | 52 |
| Crystallinity of Biomass | 52 |
| Microorganisms | 53 |
| Preparation of Seed Culture | 53 |
| Preparing Biomass Hydrolysate for Ethanol Production | 53 |
| Preparing Biomass Hydrolysate for Xylitol Production | 53 |
| Medium for Bioethanol and Xylitol Production | 54 |
| Ethanol Fermentation | 54 |
| Xylitol Fermentation | 54 |
| Results | 56 |

| Composition of Raw Biomass | 56 |
|---|----|
| Effect of NaOH Concentration on Composition | 56 |
| Effect of NaOH Concentration on Hydrolysis Yield | 59 |
| Effect of Temperature on Biomass Composition | 62 |
| Effect of Temperature on Hydrolysis Yield | 64 |
| Effect of Pretreatment on Crystalline Structure | 66 |
| Effect of Pretreatment on Morphological Structure | 67 |
| Ethanol Fermentation | 69 |
| Xylitol Production | 71 |
| Discussion | 74 |
| Effect of NaOH Concentration on Composition | 74 |
| Effect of NaOH Concentration on Hydrolysis Yield | 75 |
| Effect of Temperature on Biomass Composition | 76 |
| Effect of Temperature on Hydrolysis Yield | 77 |
| Effect of Pretreatment on Crystalline Structure | 78 |
| Effect of Pretreatment on Morphological Structure | 78 |
| Ethanol Fermentation | 79 |
| Xylitol Production | 80 |
| Material Balance | 80 |
| Conclusions. | 84 |
| CHAPTER V OVERALL CONCLUSIONS | 85 |
| REFERENCES | 86 |
| BIOGRAPHY | |

LIST OF TABLES

Page

| Table 1 Bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass 9 |
|---|
| Table 2 Chemical composition of various lignocellulosic feedstocks 12 |
| Table 3 Improvement in lignin removal and hydrolysis efficiency yield from differentlignocelluloses pretreated with physicochemical methods18 |
| Table 4 Chemical composition of V. pusilla 29 |
| Table 5 Composition of V. pusilla after H3PO4 pretreatment |
| Table 6 Crystallinity index of untreated and H ₃ PO ₄ pretreated samples |
| Table 7 Chemical compositions of V. pusilla after NaOH pretreatment at 120 °C 57 |
| Table 8 Chemical compositions of V. pusilla after 2% NaOH pretreatment at different temperatures |
| Table 9 Crystallinity index of the untreated and NaOH-pretreated of V. pusilla67 |



LIST OF FIGURES

Page

| Figure 1 Global ethanol production by country in 2022 (millions of gallons) | 7 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2 Ethanol production in Thailand by raw materials | 7 |
| Figure 3 Vietnamosasa pusilla | 14 |
| Figure 4 (A) Glucose recovery and (B) hydrolysis efficiency of untreated and treated biomass of V. pusilla | 32 |
| Figure 5 Surface morphology of (A) untreated and pretreated <i>V. pusilla</i> samples with (B) 70%, (C) 75%, (D) 80%, and (E) 85% H ₃ PO ₄ | 34 |
| Figure 6 X-ray diffraction pattern of untreated and H ₃ PO ₄ pretreated samples of V. pusilla | 36 |
| Figure 7 Profiles of glucose consumption and bioethanol fermentation of S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 | 37 |
| Figure 8 Cell growth of S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 | 38 |
| Figure 9 Mass balance of the V. pusilla feedstock for cellulosic ethanol production | 46 |
| Figure 10 Lignin recovery and removal after pretreatment at difference NaOH concentration. | 58 |
| Figure 11 Recovery yields after pretreatment at difference NaOH concentration | 59 |
| Figure 12 Glucose recovery (GR) and hydrolysis efficiency of glucose (HEG) of untreated and pretreated biomass of V. pusilla | 60 |
| Figure 13 Xylose recovery (XR) and hydrolysis efficiency of xylose (HEX) of untreated and pretreated biomass of V. pusilla | 61 |
| Figure 14 Lignin recovery and removal after pretreatment at different temperatures | 63 |
| Figure 15 Recovery yields after pretreatment at different temperatures | 64 |
| Figure 16 Glucose recovery (GR) and hydrolysis efficiency of glucose (HEG) of untreated and pretreated biomass of V. pusilla | 65 |
| Figure 17 Xylose recovery (XR) and hydrolysis efficiency of xylose (HEX) of untreated and pretreated biomass of V. pusilla | 65 |

| Figure 18 X-ray diffraction pattern of untreated and pretreated V. pusilla with varying concentrations of NaOH | 66 |
|---|----------|
| Figure 19 X-ray diffraction pattern of untreated and 2% NaOH treated V. pusilla with varying temperatures | 67 |
| Figure 20 Surface morphology of (A) untreated and NaOH-pretreated samples at (B) 1%, (C) 2%, (D) 3%, and (E) 4% NaOH | 68 |
| Figure 21 Surface morphology of (A) untreated and 2% NaOH-pretreated samples at (B) 110 °C, (C) 120 °C, and (D) 130 °C | 69 |
| Figure 22 Profiles of sugar consumption and bioethanol production of cerevisiae TISTR 5339 in standard and biomass hydrolysate | S. 70 |
| Figure 23 Cell density of S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 in standard and biomass hydrolysate medium. | 71 |
| Figure 24 Cell density of C. tropicalis TISTR 5171 in xylose control and xylose biomass hydrolysate medium. | 72 |
| Figure 25 Profiles of xylose consumption and xylitol production of C. tropicalis TISTR 5171 in control and biomass hydrolysate media | 73 |
| Figure 26 Material balance of V. pusilla biomass utilized in the fermentation of bioethanol and xylitol | 83 |



ABBREVIATIONS

| ASL | = | Acid soluble lignin | |
|-------|---|---|--|
| AIL | = | Acid insoluble lignin | |
| BH | = | Biomass hydrolysate | |
| CrI | = | Crystallinity index | |
| FESEM | = | Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope | |
| GR | = | Glucose recovery | |
| HEG | = | Hydrolysis efficiency of glucose | |
| HEX | = | Hydrolysis efficiency of xylose | |
| HPLC | = | High Performance Liquid Chromatography | |
| NREL | = | National Renewable Energy Laboratory | |
| ODW | | Oven dry weight | |
| rpm | Ē | round per minute | |
| XR | = | Xylose recovery | |
| XRD | | X-ray diffraction | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

CHAPTER I

OVERALL INTRODUCTION

Background

The depletion of nonrenewable fossil fuel reserves is impending, leading to a severe global energy crisis (Khan et al., 2021; Tusher et al., 2022). Numerous countries have formulated plans to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by transitioning to clean technology sources, such as ethanol. Renewable energy derived from lignocellulosic biomass holds the potential to replace the reliance on fossil fuel-based generation (Casau et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2021; Shukla et al., 2023; Tusher et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2022).

Lignocellulosic biomass is abundant, cost-effective, and may form part of an environmental friendly conversion process (Sun et al., 2022). Extensive research has identified lignocellulose as an alternative energy source because of its high cellulose content, which makes it a suitable bioethanol production substrate (Lee et al., 2022; Messaoudi et al., 2022; Sun et al., 2022; Wongleang et al., 2023b).

Vietnamosasa pusilla, commonly known as Pai Pek (local Thai name), belongs to the Poaceae family and is a drought-resistant weed. *V. pusilla* has been classified as a regionally controlled weed, indicating its status as a risk group for a specific region's primary crops and the environment (Pagad, 2016; Thuy et al., 2021). The major advantage of weed biomass is its rapid development despite harsh environmental conditions and minimal cultivation requirements (Obeng et al., 2019). Utilizing this material not only reduces environmental issues but also increases its value.

Nevertheless, the intricate and recalcitrant structure of lignocellulosic biomass, comprising hemicellulose, lignin, and cellulose, exerts a significant impact on enzymatic saccharification, thereby reducing the bioconversion yield (Shukla et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2022; Zhao et al., 2022). Consequently, pretreatment is required to disintegrate the lignin structure and making it more accessible to the enzymatic hydrolysis (Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022).

Among the various pretreatment methods, the fractionation of lignocellulosic biomass using acid or alkaline reagents has received considerable attention due to its effectiveness and ecological advantages (Zhang et al., 2023b). Two pretreatment reagents were applied, H₃PO₄ and NaOH, to disrupt the recalcitrant structure of the lignocellulosic biomass. Pretreatment with H₃PO₄ has demonstrated greater effectiveness under mild reaction conditions (Satari et al., 2019). The pretreated samples exhibited high hydrolysis efficiency and minimal inhibitor generation. Additionally, the residual pretreated samples did not prevent enzymatic saccharification or fermentation (Satari et al., 2019). Several studies have highlighted the ability of H₃PO₄ pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass resources to enhance ethanol yield (Satari et al., 2019). Moreover, H₃PO₄ is inexpensive, less toxic and corrosive compared to other acids. Additionally, phosphoric salts produced through neutralization at the end of the pretreatment process can be utilized as fertilizers, fermentation buffers, and for microorganism nutrition (Premjet et al., 2016; Satari et al., 2019).

Alkaline pretreatment has gained widespread acceptance due to its simplicity, non-corrosiveness, absence of pollutants, and strong pretreatment effectiveness under mild reaction conditions, leading to fewer inhibitory compounds (An et al., 2021). This method disrupts a complex lignin–hemicellulose network, enhancing lignin removal and increasing the surface area and porosity of the biomass. Consequently, enzymatic hydrolysis is enhanced, preserving a higher fraction of carbohydrates (Olatunji et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). The effectiveness of the NaOH pretreatment can be improved by integrating a heating method that involves subjecting the material to high temperatures and pressures. NaOH-assisted thermal pretreatment is considered a highly efficient method for breaking down the recalcitrant structure of lignocellulose while minimally impacting cellulose and hemicellulose. This process effectively removes a large amount of lignin, reduces cellulose crystallinity, and enhances the specific surface area of cellulose for enzymatic saccharification (Obeng et al., 2021; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022).

This study aimed to determine the effects of two pretreatment reagents on *V. pusilla* feedstock. The *V. pusilla* hydrolysate was used as a substrate for bioethanol production, while by-product from ethanol fermentation was used for xylitol

production. Our findings may help optimize the efficiency of cellulosic ethanol and xylitol production using plant-based biomass.

Research Objectives

The major objective of this research is to enhance the potential of *V. pusilla* as feedstocks for production of various biochemicals such as bioethanol, xylitol by developing an optimal pretreatment condition for their conversion to fermentable sugar.

To evaluate the effect of H₃PO₄ pretreatment on the chemical composition, structural changes, and monomer sugar production.

To evaluate the effect of NaOH-assisted thermal pretreatment on the chemical composition, structural changes, and monomer sugar production.

Research Hypothesis

Optimal H_3PO_4 pretreatment conditions can disrupt the recalcitrant structure of *V. pusilla* biomass to improve the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis and sugar recovery yields for bioethanol production.

Optimal NaOH-assisted thermal pretreatment conditions can disrupt the recalcitrant structure of *V. pusilla* biomass to improve the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis, sugar recovery yields for bioethanol production.

Research Significance

This research will provide an effective and efficient approach for managing the invasive weed *V. pusilla* by converting it into valuable bioethanol and xylitol. The outcome of this study will be very beneficial in the energy sector. In the current energy research landscape, there is a notable shift towards utilizing non-edible lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production. The utilization of bioethanol as an alternative fuel holds promise as a sustainable and eco-friendly alternative to traditional fossil fuels.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Global Energy Consumption

Energy plays a crucial role in influencing socio-economic growth, with fossil fuels maintaining their dominance as the primary energy source. As highlighted in the Global Status Report (GSR) on energy, non-renewable fossil fuels such as petroleum, coal, and natural gases constitute 78.4% of total energy consumption. In contrast, renewable alternative energy, including hydropower, wind, solar, and biomass collectively represent a more modest share of 19% (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Rumyantseva et al., 2019).

The Environmental Impact and Constraints of Fossil Fuel Utilization

Fossil fuels have a strong economic appeal due to their low cost. However, a careful evaluation shows that using them poses a number of challenges. Firstly, the combustion of fossil fuels is a major contributor to global warming and other forms of pollution (Jeevan Kumar et al., 2020; Straathof et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2022).

The limited and non-renewable nature of fossil fuels is a cause of concern for their long-term sustainability. This limitation has resulted in severe energy security issues, with reserves concentrated in politically unstable regions of the world, volatile price fluctuations, and environmental concerns related to their production. These challenges significantly impact the chemical industry, which relies heavily on these fuels to produce diverse range of chemicals. Moreover, it limits the potential of fossil fuels to meet future energy and chemical demands (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Asomaning et al., 2018; Tusher et al., 2022). Therefore, it is essential to explore alternative energy sources to reduce our reliance on fossil fuels and address both environmental and industrial concerns.

Sustainable and Alternative Energy Source

The energy demand is increasing daily due to population growth, economy expansion, and industrialization (Aggarwal et al., 2022). This surge in global energy

demand is projected to increase by 50% by 2025, leading to a worldwide energy shortage. In the past, people used fossil fuels without considering the social consequences, such as environmental and health issues. However, over the last four decades, both the public and scientific communities have become more aware of the harmful effects of excessive fossil fuel use on the environment and global warming. The socioeconomic impact of this process includes environmental effects due to pollutant release, health impact on workers and nearby residents, economic growth, and energy security, which were assessed (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Rass-Hansen et al., 2007).

Concerns about energy security, fossil resource depletion, and global warming have prompted scientists to search for alternative, sustainable, and renewable energy systems (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Broda et al., 2022). To achieve sustainable development, countries worldwide have implemented policies aimed at increasing the cost-effective biomass utilization to meet future energy demands. These policies also aim to achieve the Kyoto Protocol's CO₂ reduction targets and reduce reliance on fossil fuel supply (Aggarwal et al., 2022).

Renewable feedstocks that can be used to produce fuels, chemicals, and other products have replaced fossil resources. The bioconversion of lignocellulosic materials to green and clean energy efficiently utilizes waste and demonstrates significant application potential in the new energy era (Kumar et al., 2020; Straathof et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2022). The projected benefits are so substantial that economists, researchers, and state policymakers have invented the term "bio-based economy" to describe an economy based on bio-based products. It is also referred to as a "circular bioeconomy" due to its renewable nature (Venkata Mohan et al., 2016).

Bioethanol

Bioethanol, or ethyl alcohol, is the most commonly researched and manufactured biofuel, accounting for over 90% of the biofuel market. It offers several benefits, including the potential to reduce CO_2 emissions by up to 80%, emit fewer pollutants than traditional petroleum-based fuels, improve energy efficiency, and reduce dependence on fossil fuels. Furthermore, the carbon dioxide produced during bioethanol burning is similar to the CO_2 used by plants for growth and metabolism, which means that it does not contribute to greenhouse gas emissions. This makes it a promising option for creating a cleaner environment (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Ayodele et al., 2019; Chen et al., 2021; Satari et al., 2019).

Bioethanol is made primarily from sugar, starch, and cellulose feedstock. It can be used as a sole fuel (E85) or as an octane enhancer in a blend with gasoline (known as E10 or gasohol). E10 is a mix of 10% anhydrous ethanol and 90% gasoline that can be used in most modern vehicles and light trucks without any engine or fuel system modifications. On the other hand, E85, which is a blend of 85% ethanol and 15% gasoline, is primarily used in flexible-fuel vehicles (FFVs) and variable-fuel vehicles (VFVs) (Aggarwal et al., 2022; El Hage et al., 2022; Toor et al., 2020).

Ethanol is a high-quality fuel that is particularly suitable for racing. It burns at a lower temperature than gasoline, requiring less radiator cooling power. Using ethanol fuel blends such as E85 can reduce total greenhouse gas emissions by up to 30-36% while decreasing fossil energy use by 42-48%. Furthermore, ethanol-blended fuel (E10) can reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 2.4-2.9% and fossil energy consumption by 3.3-3.9% (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Hu et al., 2004; Toor et al., 2020).

Bioethanol Trends

The demand for ethanol was rising before COVID-19. The largest consumers and producers of ethanol are the United States, Brazil and European Union, which account for around 86% of global production in 2022 (Figure 1) (Sönnichsen, 2023).

Thailand ranks 7th in the world for ethanol production and consumers. Thailand uses molasses, cassava, and sugarcane as primary inputs for ethanol production; these three accounted for 58%, 38%, and 4% of all ethanol produced in the country (Figure 2). Government support for the biofuel sector and promotion of gasohol mixes containing a higher proportion of ethanol (E20 and E85 gasohol) will help the growth of the Thailand ethanol industry. However, the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted the ethanol market, reducing travel and cutting car use. Demand for industrial-grade ethanol surged for hand sanitizers and pure alcohol (Research, 2021; Sönnichsen, 2023).



Figure 2 Ethanol production in Thailand by raw materials

Source: Research, 2021

In 2020, the ethanol market was disrupted due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the severe drought which led to a sharp increase in input costs for ethanol producers. The margins for ethanol producers using molasses have narrowed to their slimmest in a decade due to the price rises of inputs. The cost of molasses has reached a 10-year high of THB 5.8 per kilogram, and the drought has affected the supplies. Consequently, production costs have increased, leading to volatile price fluctuations that affect energy security.

Demand for ethanol is expected to increase by 2.4-3.6% annually between 2021-2023, resulting in a total daily consumption of 4.2-4.5 million liters. This growth is driven by government policies and initiatives promoting biofuels.

Bioethanol Production from Lignocellulosic Biomass

Bioethanol is a fuel derived from biomass and is generally categorized into three main groups. The first category, known as 1G bioethanol, is derived from sugar-based plants such as sugarcane and sugar beet, starch-rich crops like maize and wheat grains, and specific root and tuber crops. However, this bioethanol is associated with concerns about food security and land use (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Premjet et al., 2013).

In contrast, the second category, also known as 2G bioethanol or cellulosic bioethanol, is produced from cellulosic materials, including crop residues like rice straw and maize stover, and woody materials (Table 1). It can be produced by fermentable sugar from the hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. The advantage of 2G bioethanol is that it presents no risk to food security, has a low and constant price, and requires no additional land. Cellulosic biomass has been found to have better potential for bioethanol generation than starch and sugar crops due to its higher yield, availability, and established processing methods. Moreover, its cost-effectiveness and environmental friendliness align with sustainability goals and circumvent challenges associated with traditional feedstocks (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Bušić et al., 2018).

It is important to note that the quality and cost of bioethanol are heavily influenced by the production pathways used. Creating bioethanol involves multiple stages, and each stage can produce varying quality and cost of ethanol. When using lignocellulosic material for bioethanol production, four essential processes are involved: pretreatment of the biomass, enzymatic saccharification, fermentation, and distillation (Aggarwal et al., 2022).

| Materials | Yeast | Ethanol | Reference |
|----------------|------------------------------------|---------------|--------------|
| | | yield* (g/g) | |
| Elephant grass | Saccharomyces cerevisiae PE-02 and | 0.42 | (Vargas et |
| | Meyerozyma caribbica CHAP-096 | | al., 2023) |
| Corn fiber | S. cerevisiae LF1 and 6M-15 | 0.47 | (Li et al., |
| | | | 2023b) |
| Corn stover | S. cerevisiae XH7 | 0.44 | (Sun et al., |
| | | | 2022) |
| Giant reed | S. cerevisiae | 0.13 | (Shafaei et |
| | | | al., 2023) |
| Poplar | Dried yeast | 0.44 | (Li et al., |
| | | | 2023a) |
| Rice straw | S. cerevisiae NCIM 3280 and | 0.36 and 0.20 | (Kumar et |
| | Zymomonas mobilis MTCC 2427 | | al., 2023) |
| Cassava | Clostridium thermocellum ATCC | 0.32 | (Papathoti |
| | 31,924 | | et al., |
| | | | 2022) |
| Palm fronds | S. cerevisiae | 0.21 | |
| | | | (Messaoudi |
| | | | et al., |
| | | | 2022) |
| Eucalyptus | S. cerevisiae | 0.14 | |
| chips | | | (Messaoudi |
| | | | et al., |
| | | | 2022) |

Table 1 Bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass

Note: *Ethanol yield is given as grams of ethanol per gram of glucose consumed.

Lignocellulosic Materials

Lignocellulosic biomass is the world's largest source of natural carbohydrates. It is plentiful among diverse materials, with a yearly production of 200,109 tons annually. Recently, lignocellulosic materials have demonstrated their potential as feedstocks for bioethanol production because they are an abundant, sustainable, and inexpensive organic feedstock for producing renewable energy (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021; Kumar & Sharma, 2017; Kumar et al., 2020; Satari et al., 2019).

Lignocellulosic biomass is made up of three majority polymers, cellulose (35–50%), hemicellulose (20–35%), and lignin (5–30%), as well as a small amount of ash and extractives (Yu et al., 2017).

Cellulose

Cellulose, or the glucose polymer, is a structural part of lignocellulosic biomass linked to reduced or non-reduced ends via a β -(1–4) glycosidic bond. The problematic and recalcitrant nature of cellulose is due to its high degree of crystallinity in structure, higher polymerization of approximately 10,000 units, and complex network of interand intra-molecularly hydrogen-linked hydroxyl groups (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Satari et al., 2019; Shukla et al., 2023).

Hemicellulose

Hemicellulose is an amorphous branched polymer. It is made up of pentose (xylose, arabinose) and hexoses (mannose, glucose, galactose) with at least 500-3000 sugar monomers connected by ester bonds (Satari et al., 2019; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2011). Hemicellulose structures have a lower degree of polymerization than cellulose. Therefore, the hemicellulose fraction has little effect on the recalcitrant nature of lignocellulosic biomass (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Satari et al., 2019). Hemicellulose imparts the overall biomass structure stiffness by acting as a binder between the cellulosic and lignin sections. Both cellulose and hemicellulose contain reducing sugars, making them an important source of many economically viable compounds (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Quereshi et al., 2019; Shukla et al., 2023).

Lignin

Lignin is a complex polymer that provides structural support to plants and forms a network with cellulose microfibrils. It is composed of three main monolignols: coniferyl alcohol (G-units), paracoumaryl alcohol (H-units), and sinapyl alcohol (Sunits). These monolignols are joined by C–O–C and C–C bonds (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2011). However, lignin is tightly bound to cellulose or hemicelluloses, which makes it difficult for enzymes like cellulases or hemicellulases to break them down. Converting lignin into hydrolysate can produce valuable compounds and economically beneficial chemicals (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Satari et al., 2019).

According to Table 2, the percentage mix of the three significant components in biomass may vary significantly depending on its source. The chemical composition of lignocellulosic materials also varies in terms of the amount and type of carbohydrates and non-cellulosic carbohydrates present, as well as the presence of proteins or phenolic chemicals (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2011).



| Biomass | Cellulose | Hemicellulose | Lignin | References |
|------------------------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|-----------------|
| | (%dw) | (%dw) | (%dw) | |
| Cassava | 32.4 ± 0.6 | 20.1 ± 0.4 | 14.6 ± 0.2 | (Papathoti et |
| | | | | al., 2022) |
| Corn fiber | 26.3 ± 1.3 | 37.6 ± 1.0 | 2.1 ± 0.1 | (Li et al., |
| | | | | 2023b) |
| Corn straw | 34.3 ± 0.5 | 17.6 ± 0.4 | 21.9 ± 0.2 | (Jin et al., |
| | | | | 2023) |
| Corn stover | 31.2 ± 0.6 | 21.4 ± 0.3 | 18.9 ± 0.7 | (Sun et al., |
| | | | | 2022) |
| Sugarcane | 41.2 | 20.2 | 25.2 | (Zhang et al., |
| bagasse | | | | 2023) |
| Jute biomass | 53.9 ± 0.8 | 6.8 ± 0.1 | 16.3 ± 0.1 | (Wongleang et |
| (bark) | | | | al., 2023a) |
| Elephan <mark>t</mark> grass | 35.7 ± 3.0 | 15.3 ± 2.7 | 18.0 ± 1.0 | (Vargas et al., |
| | | | | 2023) |
| Arecanut husk | 43.3 ± 0.4 | 29.2 ± 0.3 | 12.6 ± 0.1 | (Vardhan et |
| | | | | al., 2023) |
| Poplar | 43.1 ± 0.9 | 16.0 ± 0.4 | 23.6 ± 0.0 | (Li et al., |
| | | | | 2023a) |
| Quinoa straw | 31.0 ± 0.5 | 20.8 ± 0.6 | 20.0 ± 0.6 | (Jin et al., |
| | | | | 2023) |
| Palm fronds | 39.9 ± 0.8 | 28.1 ± 0.5 | 22.5 ± 0.5 | (Messaoudi et |
| | | | | al., 2022) |
| Eucalyptus | 43.2 ± 0.4 | 30.5 ± 2.9 | 19.2 ± 2.2 | (Messaoudi et |
| chips | | | | al., 2022) |
| Almond shells | 41.4 ± 2.8 | 28.5 ± 0.2 | 13.7 ± 3.2 | (Messaoudi et |
| | | | | al., 2022) |

 Table 2 Chemical composition of various lignocellulosic feedstocks

Weed Biomass

The term weed biomass is used to describe plants that grow on agricultural land but are not wanted for agriculture. These plants are considered agricultural pests because they compete with crops for essential resources, including nutrients, minerals, water, and sunlight (Chandel & Singh, 2011). Weeds biomass can be a profitable and valuable resource for potential biofuel feedstocks due to their rapid reproduction, high cellulose content, and low lignin content (Aggarwal et al., 2022). Multiple weeds, including *Sida acuta*, *Leucaena leucocep hala*, *Achyranthes aspera* (Premjet et al., 2016; Premjet et al., 2013), *Miscanthus* × *giganteus* (Ji et al., 2015), *Arundo donax*, *Medicago sativa*, and *Pennisetum giganteum* (Zhang et al., 2020b) have been discovered as potential sources of alternative energy due to their high cellulose content. Also, most weeds in nature survive on marginal land and produce a high amount of biomass, even though they have limited access to water and nutrients (Premjet et al., 2016).

Vietnamosasa pusilla, or "Pai Pek," is a weed belonging to the Poaceae family (Figure 3). It is usually found in semi-deciduous forests in regions with a climate that varies seasonally and on plateaus. This material has the advantage of being able to tolerate drought conditions and grow throughout the year. As a result, this raw material for the industry remains stable. In addition, its comparatively high polysaccharide content can facilitate the production of biofuels and bio-based compounds. *V. pusilla* has been declared a "regionally controlled weed," a group of noxious weeds that are risky for a region's main crop or environment and are likely to spread within that region or to another (Jin et al., 2021; Pagad, 2016; Thuy et al., 2021). Utilizing this material not only reduces environmental issues but also increases its value. However, research on this material's application has been limited.



Figure 3 Vietnamosasa pusilla

Lignin Carbohydrate Complexes

Converting lignocellulose to bioethanol is substantially more complicated than sugar or starch conversion. It is challenging to convert lignocellulosic biomass to biofuels due to its complicated structure, making it resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis (Aggarwal et al., 2022). In order to effectively utilize the material, due to the recalcitrance structure of the biomass, it is necessary to modify the material's structure so that the carbohydrate fraction can be broken down into monomer sugars (Satari et al., 2019). Therefore, the pretreatment step is necessary to remove lignocellulosic biomass's natural core, which is made up of cellulose and hemicellulose encased in a matrix of a very recalcitrant substance called lignin by fractionating the biomass into its components. After that, the carbohydrate polymers of cellulose or hemicellulose are hydrolyzed to their respective monomers, such as hexose and pentose sugars, which are then transformed into bioethanol in the subsequent fermentation stage. The process of pretreatment plays a crucial role in making cellulose and hemicellulose more accessible to hydrolyzing enzymes, which are then fermented to produce biofuels (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2020; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022).

Pretreatment of Lignocellulosic Biomass

Pretreatment is essential in converting biomass into high-value products like sugars and biofuels. Different techniques are used to overcome the recalcitrance of lignocellulosic biomass and accelerate its decomposition into individual units, such as cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. Various strategies have been developed, classified as physical, chemical, physicochemical, and biological (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023).

Physical Pretreatment

The physical pretreatment method can enhance available surface area and pore size and lower cellulose crystallinity and grade of polymerization. Moreover, it reduced the amount of chemicals used during the process and minimized the chemical waste produced after the treatment (Moset et al., 2018; Shukla et al., 2023).

Most processes have used mechanical methods, such as gridding and chipping, to lower the particle sizes of biomass feedstocks. Various physical processes like milling, including two-roll milling, ball milling, hammer milling, vibro-energy milling, and colloid milling, can be utilized as a pretreatment. Additionally, irradiation techniques such as gamma rays, microwaves, electron beams, and ultrasounds have been employed to improve the enzymatic degradation or biodegradability of lignocellulosic feedstocks (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023).

Physical processes, in general, contribute to higher operational costs because of their high energy utilization. Furthermore, physical procedures remove less lignin than chemical pretreatment from the cell wall composition. Enhancing physical treatment performance is often combined with other types of pretreatment, as highlighted in recent research (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023).

Chemical Pretreatment

Chemical pretreatment has long been the most common process for saccharification of cellulose. This method usually uses a variety of chemical reagents such as acids, alkalis, organic solvents, ozone, and peroxide. Concentrated acids like sulfuric acid and hydrochloric acid are particularly helpful in improving the enzymatic hydrolysis of fermentable sugars. Chemical pretreatment has been recognized as an efficient way to treat a wide range of biomass feedstocks because it can degrade hemicellulose and lignin, thus enhancing cellulose hydrolysis. However, these chemicals are highly toxic and corrosive. In addition, it requires specialized reactors, which can increase costs (Peral, 2016; Satari et al., 2019; Shukla et al., 2023).

The chemical pretreatment by H_3PO_4 is more engaging because several lignocellulosic materials have been successfully pretreated using concentrated H3PO4 (85%) at mild reaction conditions (50-60 °C). Hydrolysis efficiency for pretreated samples is very high. For instance, after 72 hours of hydrolysis, the digestibility of glucose was more excellent than 90%, with less inhibitor generation. Furthermore, the remaining pretreated sample did not prevent the enzymatic hydrolysis or fermentation processes. Moreover, other studies have observed H_3PO_4 pretreatment to increase ethanol yield. In addition, H_3PO_4 is less poisonous and corrosive than other acids and inexpensive compared to other mineral acids. In addition, phosphoric salts generated by the neutralization at the end of the pretreatment process can be utilized as fertilizers, fermentation buffers, and microorganism nutrition (Premjet et al., 2016; Satari et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2010).

The procedure of alkaline pretreatment involves adding diluted bases to biomass mixtures, like sodium hydroxides, potassium hydroxides or anhydrous, calcium, and ammonia, to cleave the linkages present between the lignin and other compounds (Aggarwal et al., 2022). The processes speed up the delignification step by breaking the lignin structure and eliminating the lignin, which reduces the plant cell's mechanical strength. As a result, enzymes have better access to cellulose components of the cell, and sugar liberated from processed material during digestion is better (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Ethaib et al., 2020). NaOH pretreatment is a commonly used alkaline pretreatment method that effectively breaks down lignin. This is achieved by solubilizing the bonds between lignin and carbohydrates, increasing the surface area of cellulose, and retaining the sugar content (Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). As a result, enzymatic hydrolysis is enhanced, and carbohydrates are better preserved (Olatunji et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022).

Physicochemical Pretreatment

Physicochemical processes use a combination of physical equipment and chemical chemicals to perform preparation. These procedures can be far more effective than only using physical mechanisms. One of the most studied physicochemical methods is steam explosion. In a steam explosion, pressure is abruptly lowered, causing the materials to decompress explosively (Aggarwal et al., 2022). This approach has used higher pressure and higher temperature for a short period (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Baêta et al., 2017). High-pressure water can enter the biomass, hydrate cellulose, and remove hemicellulose and some lignin. This technique dissolves around 40–60% of total biomass, 4–22% of cellulose, 35–60% of lignin, and all hemicellulose (Kumar et al., 2011). Although this treatment has several advantages, including quick treatment duration, no use of chemicals, and minimal energy consumption, there are concerns about lignin removal, xylan breakdown into hemicellulose, and the risk of producing inhibitory compounds during high-temperature processing (Aggarwal et al., 2022).

Steam explosion pretreatment can be done with the addition of various chemicals, such as organosolvents, NaOH, and H_2SO_4 , to encourage hemicellulose degradation, improve lignin solubilization, and reduce inhibitor synthesis if reduced temperatures are used, resulting in improved enzyme accessibility to cellulose in subsequent processing (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Guerrero et al., 2017; Martino et al., 2017; Obeng et al., 2021; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022).



Table 3 Improvement in lignin removal and hydrolysis efficiency yield from different lignocelluloses pretreated with physicochemical methods

| Feedstock | Conditions | Lignin | HE | Reference |
|-----------------------|---|---------|-----------|-------------------------|
| | | removal | (%) | |
| Sorghum | 2% NaOH at 121 °C for 60 min | 75% | | Vancov and |
| | | | | McIntosh, 2011 |
| Imperata cylindrica | 20 mg/mL NaOH at 105 °C for | 74% | · | Haque et al., 2016 |
| Miscanthus floridulus | 6% NaOH at 35 °C for 3 h | 11.8% | | Fu et al., 2018 |
| Durian peel | 2% NaOH at 110 °C for 60 min | 74-77% | 85-90 | Obeng et al., 2021 |
| Sida acuta | 3% NaOH at 60 °C for 9 h | 60% | 67 | Premjet et al., 2018 |
| Bamboo | 85% H ₃ PO ₄ at 50 °C for 60 min | 33% | 88 | Sathitsuksanoh et al., |
| | | | | 2010 |
| pineapple leaf | 85% H ₃ PO ₄ at 50°C for 45 min | 30-40% | 83-87 | Mund et al., 2021 |
| Corn stover | 85% H ₃ PO ₄ at 50° C for 3 h | 33% | ' | Wang et al., 2016 |
| Hibiscus sabdariffa | 70-75% H ₃ PO ₄ at 60 °C for | 40-55% | 91.7-95.4 | 4 Premjet et al., 2018b |
| Durio zibethinus | 75% H ₃ PO ₄ at 60° C for 60 min | 60% | 06 | Obeng et al., 2018 |

Biological Pretreatment

Microorganisms can be used to process biomass and improve the rate of enzymatic degradation or fermentation. Various bacteria strains, including, *Actinomycetes, Candida, Bacillus*, and *Streptomyces*, as well as certain well-known fungal species, for example—*Ceriporia lancerata* and *Cyathus stercolerus*, are used to breakdown lignocellulosic biomass (Pandey et al., 2014). Biological pretreatments consume less energy and can be carried out in a controlled setting. However, most of these techniques require extended incubation times and are not as efficient, which limits their industrial use (Zabed et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2022).

Biorefinery of Bioethanol Production

The depletion of fossil sources and increasing energy needs have driven the call for alternative and clean energy. Using lignocellulosic biomass for large-scale biorefinery applications has become more accessible, cost-effective, and environmentally beneficial (Aggarwal et al., 2022).

Biorefinery is a broad term that encompasses diverse sectors like chemistry, transport, energy, and agriculture. The International Energy Agency (IEA)has highlighted biorefining as a sustainable way to convert biomass into various bio-based products and biofuels, effectively using available feedstock for energy production. According to another definition, the biorefinery is defined as "a facility for the synergetic conversion of biomass into multiple commercial biobased products (food and feed ingredients, chemicals, materials, minerals, CO₂) and bioenergy (fuels, power, heat)" (Aggarwal et al., 2022; ETIP, 2017).

Bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass indicated that pretreatment's operating cost be expressed as a percentage of the entire operating cost. Using waste substrate or low-cost materials to generate power makes the process more cost-effective (Aggarwal et al., 2022).

Value-Added Chemicals

Bioethanol is used in the transport sector; on the other hand, bioethanol is used as a substrate for industrial applications, stating that bioethanol may be used to produce acetaldehyde, ethylene, butadiene, and acetic acid, among other things (Rass-Hansen et al., 2007). Furthermore, the use of ethanol as a carbon source for the production of L- glutamic acid in *Brevibacterium* sp., *Corynebacterium* sp., and *Pseudomonas*, *Alcaligenes*, and *Bacillus* strains (Aggarwal et al., 2022; Oki et al., 1968). Additionally, ethanol as a source of carbon for the manufacture of L-lysine using *C. glutamicum*, *Brevibacterium ammoniagenes*, *Bacillus megaterium*, *Arthrobacter paraffineus*, and *Nocardia* strains (Aggarwal et al., 2022). Moreover, vinegar is manufactured with bakers' yeast, initially converting sugar to alcohol, followed by a second fermentation process in which the alcohol is transformed into acetic acid by *Acetobacter* species (Solieri & Giudici, 2008).



CHAPTER III

CELLULOSIC ETHANOL PRODUCTION FROM WEED BIOMASS HYDROLYSATE OF *VIETNAMOSASA PUSILLA*

Introduction

Energy is a vital aspect that determines the socioeconomic development of a nation, especially fossil fuels, which are the principal source of energy. However, combustion of fossil fuels is one of the leading contributors to global warming ant other forms of pollution. Mitigating greenhouse gases and diminishing reliance on fossil fuels is the impetus for the pursuit of alternative energy sources. To achieve sustainable development goals, fossil resources should be substituted with biomass feedstocks that can produce various products, including biofuels, green chemicals, and product lines for other industries (Kumar et al., 2020; Straathof et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2022). Utilizing lignocellulosic biomass as a sustainable and renewable source of energy could mitigate the consequences of global warming (Patel & Shah, 2021). In the new energy age, the bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass to green and clean energy has tremendous application potential and makes efficient use of waste (Kumar et al., 2020; Straathof et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2022). Among biofuels, bioethanol has been the most researched and manufactured in factories. Bioethanol can reduce carbon emissions, improve energy efficiency, and make a country less dependent on fossil fuels (Ayodele et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021; Satari et al., 2019). Several lignocellulosic materials have recently proven their potential as cellulosic ethanol feedstocks owing to their abundance, sustainability, renewable nature, and low cost (Chen et al., 2021; Kumar & Sharma, 2017; Kumar et al., 2020; Satari et al., 2019). Furthermore, several weed biomass species, including Sida acuta, Leucaena leucocephala, Achyranthes aspera (Premjet et al., 2016; Premjet et al., 2013), Miscanthus × giganteus (Ji et al., 2015), Arundo donax, Medicago sativa, and Pennisetum giganteum (Zhang et al., 2020b), have been recognized as possible sources of alternative energy because of their high cellulose content. In addition, most weeds in nature survive on marginal lands and produce a high

amount of biomass, despite having limited access to water and nutrition (Premjet et al., 2016).

Vietnamosasa pusilla or Pai Pek (Thai local name), is a weed that belonging to the Poaceae family. It is usually found on plateaus and in semi-deciduous forests in regions with climates that vary seasonally. This weed has the advantage of being able to tolerate drought conditions and grows throughout the year. V. pusilla has been declared a "regionally controlled weed", i.e., it is a group of noxious weeds that are risky for a region's main crop or environment and are likely to spread within that region or to another (Jin et al., 2021; Pagad, 2016; Thuy et al., 2021). Utilizing this weed's biomass reduces environmental issues but also increases its value. However, research on the applications of this material is limited. One of the most significant obstacles in employing lignocellulosic biomass for biofuel production is the complicated and naturally robust structure of plant cell walls that hinders the hydrolysis of cellulose (Chandel et al., 2018; Mankar et al., 2021; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019). Consequently, several pretreatment procedures have been used to disintegrate the structure of the lignocellulosic biomass, causing the removal of lignin and hemicellulose, which are then transformed into monomer sugars via enzyme hydrolysis. The sugar is then fermented by microbes to produce bioethanol (Chandel et al., 2018; Patel & Shah, 2021).

Chemical pretreatment with phosphoric acid (H₃PO₄) has been shown to be more effective as several lignocellulosic materials have been successfully pretreated using concentrated H₃PO₄ under mild reaction conditions (Satari et al., 2019). The hydrolysis efficiency of the pretreated samples was very high, with less inhibitor generation. Furthermore, the remaining pretreated samples did not prevent enzymatic hydrolysis or fermentation (Satari et al., 2019). Several studies have demonstrated that H₃PO₄ pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass resources, including *Tripsacum dactyloides*, *Populus tremula*, and oil palm empty fruit bunches can enhance ethanol yield (Satari et al., 2019). In addition, H₃PO₄ is less poisonous and corrosive than other acids and is inexpensive compared with other mineral acids. Additionally, phosphoric salts generated by neutralization at the end of the pretreatment process can be utilized as fertilizers, fermentation buffers, and for microorganism nutrition (Premjet et al., 2016; Satari et al., 2019). This study aimed to determine the optimal dose of H₃PO₄ for
pretreating weed biomass (V. pusilla) to maximize glucose recovery and bioethanol production.



Materials and methods

Material

The above-ground biomass of *V. pusilla* was collected from a naturally occurring location in the Wang Thong district of Phitsanulok, Thailand (16°51′03.3″N, 100°44′38.2″E). The herbarium in Naresuan University's biology department confirmed the authenticity of the material. The specimen was preserved with record code 05868 for reference purposes at the herbarium.

Sample preparation

The *V. pusilla* sample was rinsed with tap water to remove soil debris and dried under shade for five days. Subsequently, they were cut into long pieces (approximately 5 cm) and crushed into powder using a milling machine (Retsch, Haan, Germany). They were then sieved through a 150–300 µm laboratory test sieve before being placed in bottles at 25 °C for future analysis and experiments. (Hames et al., 2008).

Chemical composition analysis

We followed the technique of compositional analysis outlined by Premjet et al., 2018a. The chemical compositions of untreated and treated samples, including monomer sugar, lignin, ash, and extractives, were examined using the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) development method (Premjet et al., 2018a; Sluiter et al., 2008a; Sluiter et al., 2012; Sluiter et al., 2008b).

Analytical Processes

The details of these analytical methodologies are described in a previous report by Premjet et al., 2018a. Ultraviolet–visible (UV-Vis) spectrophotometer (Analytik Jena Specord 40, Analytik Jena AG, Jena, Germany) absorbance at 205 nm was utilized to assess acid-soluble lignin.

Monomeric sugar, and ethanol were analyzed using a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC; Agilent 1100, Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) system integrated with a refractive index detector (G1362A; Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) and a Bio-Rad Aminex-HPX 87H column (300 mm × 7.8 mm; Hercules, CA, USA), which were maintained at 55 and 60 °C, respectively. The mobile

phase consisted of 0.005 M sulfuric acid with a 0.6 mL/min flow rate. The injection volume was 20 μ L (Premjet et al., 2022).

Phosphoric Acid Pretreatment

V. pusilla lignocellulosic feedstock was pretreated according to the procedure specified by Premjet et al., 2022. The raw material (3 g) was mixed with different concentrations of H₃PO₄ solution (70%, 75%, 80%, and 85% v/v) in a polypropylene tube at a solid-to liquid ratio of 1:8. The tube carrying the mixture was then sealed and heated for 60 min at 60 °C in a water bath. The reaction was terminated by adding 25 mL acetone and stirring with a glass rod. The liquid mixture was separated using a fixed-angle centrifuge at 7100× g for 15 min at 15 °C. The supernatant was then discarded. This procedure was carried out at least twice, and the solid fraction was rinsed with distilled water until the pH was close to 7.0

Equations (1) and (2) were used to evaluate the recovery yield (%) and lignin removal (%) (Obeng et al., 2019):

Recovery yield
$$(\%) =$$

| Solid recovery of <mark>each content</mark> (%) × Treated composition of ea <mark>ch content (%)</mark> | | | |
|---|-----|--|--|
| Untreated composition of each content (%) | (1) | | |

Lignin removal (%) = 100 %-lignin recovery

(2)

Enzymatic Hydrolysis

The saccharification hydrolysis of both the pretreated and raw samples was evaluate using a previously described method (Obeng et al., 2019). A 50 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing 10 mL of digestion solution was used to hydrolyze 100 mg of biomass (dry weight) from both the raw and pretreated samples. The enzyme loadings for 30 filter paper units (FPU) of cellulase (*Trichoderma reesei* C2730, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and 60 U-glucosidase (Oriental Yeast Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) per gram of dry biomass in a sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.8) with 2% (w/v) sodium azide. The flask of each reaction was incubated at 50 °C and 150 rpm for 96 h in a rotary shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA).

The hydrolysate solution (200 μ L) was collected after 12, 24, 48, 72, and 96 h for fermentable sugar analysis (Obeng et al., 2019).

The hydrolysis efficiencies of glucose (HEG) and glucose recovery (GR) were determined using the following equations from Obeng et al. (Obeng et al., 2019):

$$HEG (\%) = \frac{Glucose generated by hydrolysis (g) \times 100}{1.11*Initial glucan in substrate (g)}$$
(3)

 $GR (\%) = (solid recovery \times glucan in substrate \times 1.11 \times HEG) \times 100$ (4)

Where 1.11 is the conversion factors for glucan to glucose.

Determination of Biomass Microstructure

The analytical techniques had been followed in a previous investigation (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021). The raw and treated *V. pusilla* feedstocks were freezedried and fixed on aluminum stumps using double-sided carbon tape and a gold coating. A field emission scanning electron microscope (FESEM; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Apero S, Waltham, MA, USA) was used to observe modifications in the surface morphology of all specimens (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021).

Crystallinity of Biomass

Changes in the crystallinity index (CrI) of raw and treated samples were determined by X-ray diffraction (XRD) using a PANalytical X'pert Pro, PW 3040/60 diffractometer (Almelo, The Netherlands). The biomass samples underwent a triple wash with acetone and were thereafter subjected to drying at a temperature of 32 °C. The dry specimens were pulverized to achieve a particle size that passed through a 150 μ m mesh screen. The diffraction intensity was determined within the angular range of $2\theta = 10-40^{\circ}$, using a scanning rate of 0.02° s⁻¹/min (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021).

Using the Segal equation, the CrI was determined as follows (Segal et al., 1959):

$$CrI = (I_{002} - I_{am}) / I_{002} \times 100\%$$
(5)

Where I_{am} is the lowest intensity of the amorphous sector at $2\theta = 18.0^{\circ}$ and I_{002} is the greatest intensity of the crystallinity sector at $2\theta = 22.0^{\circ}$.

Microorganisms

In this study, bioethanol was produced using *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TISTR 5339. These yeast strains were purchased in special order and submitted to the Thailand Institute of Science and Technology (TISTR).

Preparation of Seed Culture

A single loop from yeast strain, *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 was used as the initial inoculum. *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 was placed into a 50 mL Falcon tube with 10 mL of yeast malt medium and incubated with a rotating shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA) at 30 °C for 18 h.

Preparing Biomass Hydrolysate for Ethanol Production

The biomass hydrolysate (BH) was prepared according to procedures outlined in a previous study (Premjet et al., 2018b). After the *V. pusilla* biomass was treated under optimal conditions, followed by enzymatic saccharification, the enzymatic activity was terminated by heating the BH to 100 °C in a water bath (Grant Instrument, Grant W28, Ltd. Barrington, Cambridge, UK) for 20 min. The solid components of the biomass were separated by centrifugation at $12,000 \times g$ for 2 h before being filtered through a glass microfiber filter (Whatman, Amersham Place, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire HP7 9NA, UK). The BH was then concentrated using a rotary vacuum evaporator (Heidolph Instruments, Hei-VAP Advantage, GmbH & Co. KG Walpersdorfer Str., Schwabach, Germany) until it yielded approximately 20 g/L glucose. The pH of the BH was adjusted to 6 using a 1 M NaOH solution and chilling overnight at 4 °C. Subsequently, the mixture was centrifuged for 2 h at 12,000× g and passed through a glass filter. The BH was subsequently maintained at 4 °C for use in future experiments (Premjet et al., 2018b).

Medium for Bioethanol Production

Ethanol was produced using the control and the BH media. The BH medium contained glucose derived from the biomass, whereas commercial glucose was used as the carbon source in the control medium. Each medium was prepared by adding 20 g/L glucose, 10 g/L peptone, 10 g/L yeast extract, 2 g/L MgSO₄, and 2 g/L K₂HPO₄, and the pH was set at 6 (Premjet et al., 2018b).

In this study, all liquid culture media were prepared under aseptic conditions and passed through a Millipore filter with a 0.2 µm pore size (Merck Ltd. Tullagreen, Carrigtwohill, Co., Cork, Ireland).

Ethanol Production

The specifications of the bioethanol production methodology were followed in a previous study by Premjet et al., 2018b. The production of bioethanol utilized 50 mL of both BH and a control medium. Both media were inoculated with 2% (v/v) *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 seed culture and incubated at 30 °C on a rotary shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA) at 150 rpm for 24 h. A milliliter of the liquid fraction was collected for HPLC analysis after 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21, and 24 h of incubation to assess glucose consumption and ethanol production (Premjet et al., 2018b). The ethanol yield was determined using the following equation:

Ethanol yield (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Ethanol in fermentation liquid (g) × 100}}{0.511 \times \text{Glucose initial (g)}}$$
(6)

Determination Growth of Microorganisms

The optical density at 600 nm was determined using a UV spectrophotometer to monitor the yeast cell growth (Premjet et al., 2018b). At 600 nm, an OD of 1.0 corresponds to approximately 1.5×10^7 cells/mL.

Statistical Analysis

Each experiment was performed in triplicate; statistical evaluation of data was performed by analysis of variance using the SPSS version 26.0. The statistically significant difference of each measurement was assessed utilizing Duncan's test (p < 0.05). The result is expressed as the average and standard deviation (\pm SD)

Results

Compositional Analysis

The lignocellulosic *V. pusilla* biomass was used as an alternative biomass source. The chemical composition of the above-ground *V. pusilla* biomass consisted of three primary elements: cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin (Table 4). The major component of carbohydrates is cellulose ($48.1 \pm 0.3\%$), mainly in the form of glucan, followed by hemicellulose composed of xylan ($19.2 \pm 0.4\%$) and arabinan ($1.2 \pm 0.1\%$). The total amount of carbohydrates was approximately 70%. The lignin content was composed of acid-insoluble lignin (AIL, $23.5 \pm 0.1\%$) and acid-soluble lignin (ASL, $4.4 \pm 0.1\%$). However, the ash and extractive values were $6.1 \pm 0.2\%$ and $18.2 \pm 0.2\%$, respectively.

| Composition (% dw) | V. pusilla (%) |
|--------------------|----------------|
| Glucan | 48.1 ± 0.3 |
| Xylan | 19.2 ± 0.4 |
| Arabinan | 1.2 ± 0.1 |
| Ash | 6.1 ± 0.1 |
| Extractive | 18.2 ± 0.2 |
| AIL* | 23.5 ± 0.1 |
| ASL** | 4.4 ± 0.1 |
| Total lignin | 27.9 ± 0.2 |
| | |

Table 4 Chemical composition of V. pusilla

Note: AIL* = acid-insoluble lignin, ASL** = acid-soluble lignin

Impact of H₃PO₄ on the Chemical Composition of V. pusilla Biomass

To obtain monomer sugar from weed biomass, the *V. pusilla* biomass was treated with 70%, 75%, 80%, and 85% H₃PO₄. The major components of this biomass, before and after pretreatment, are listed in Table 5. After pretreatment, the concentration of H₃PO₄ had a substantial impact on changes in glucan, xylan, and lignin contents. The xylan content of this biomass decreased by $7.6 \pm 0.4\%$, $4.8 \pm 0.3\%$, and $4.0 \pm 0.2\%$ after pretreatment with 70%, 75%, and 80% H₃PO₄, respectively. However, the arabinan and xylan content was eliminated by treatment with 70–85% and 85% H₃PO₄, respectively (Table 5).

Increasing the H₃PO₄ concentration led to a decrease in the AIL, ASL, and total lignin contents (Table 5). Additionally, the total lignin content was reduced from 27.9 \pm 0.2% (raw material) to 10.5 \pm 0.7%. This accounted for approximately 80% of the total lignin removal. However, the degree of delignification gradually improved to 54.4 \pm 1.1%, 68.0 \pm 1.2%, 71.2 \pm 0.5%, and 82.4 \pm 1.2% when treated with 70%, 75%, 80%, and 85% H₃PO₄, respectively (Table 5).

Further, the glucan recovery declined steadily to $79.9 \pm 0.4\%$, $78.3 \pm 1.2\%$, $74.7 \pm 0.7\%$, and $68.9 \pm 0.7\%$ after pretreatment with 70%, 75%, 80%, and 85% H₃PO₄, respectively (Table 5). In contrast, the relative glucan content improved significantly (p < 0.05) to $71.4 \pm 0.3\%$ and $73.6 \pm 1.1\%$ after pretreatment with 70% and 75% H₃PO₄, respectively (Table 5). Subsequently, with increase in the concentration of H₃PO₄ to 80% and 85%, the relative glucan content decreased to $71.5 \pm 0.7\%$ and $70.8 \pm 0.8\%$, respectively; however, it was not significantly different.

The solid recovery yield gradually decreased with an increase in the concentration of H₃PO₄. However, pretreatment with 75% and 80% H₃PO₄ did not significantly (p < 0.05) affect the solid recovery yield, which was $51.1 \pm 0.7\%$ and $50.2 \pm 0.4\%$, respectively (Table 5). The lowest solid recovery yield ($46.8 \pm 1.7\%$) was achieved by pretreating with 85% H₃PO₄.

| Composition | Raw | Concentration of H ₃ PO ₄ (%) | | | |
|--|----------------------|---|--------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|
| (% dw) | material | 70 | 75 | 80 | 85 |
| Glucan | 48.1±0.3° | 71.4±0.3 ^b | 73.6±1.1ª | 71.5±0.7 ^b | 70.8 ± 0.8^{b} |
| Xylan | $19.2{\pm}0.4^{a}$ | 7.6 ± 0.4^{b} | 4.8±0.3° | $4.0{\pm}0.2^{d}$ | n.d. |
| Arabinan | 1.2±0.1ª | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. |
| AIL* | 23.5±0.1ª | $21.0{\pm}0.6^{b}$ | 14.8±0.7° | $13.4{\pm}0.3^{d}$ | 8.1±0.7 ^e |
| ASL** | 4.4±0.1ª | 2.7±0.1 ^b | 2.7 ± 0.0^{b} | 2.6 ± 0.0^{b} | $2.5 \pm 0.0^{\circ}$ |
| Total lignin | 27.9±0.2ª | 23.7±0.6 ^b | 17.5±0.7° | $16.0{\pm}0.3^{d}$ | 10.5±0.7 ^e |
| Solid recovery | 100±0.0 ^a | 53.8±1.4 ^b | 51.1±0.7° | 50.2±0.4° | 46.8 ± 1.7^{d} |
| Glucan recovery | 100±0.0 ^a | $79.9{\pm}0.4^{b}$ | 78. <mark>3±1.</mark> 2° | 74.7 ± 0.7^{d} | 68.9±0.7 ^e |
| Xylan recovery | 100±0.0 ^a | 21.4±1.2 ^b | 12.8±0.9° | $10.4{\pm}0.6^{d}$ | n.d. |
| Arabinan recovery | 100±0.0 ^a | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. |
| AIL recovery | 100 ± 0.0^{a} | 48.0±1.4 ^b | 33.1±0.2° | 28.6 ± 0.6^{d} | 16.0±1.5 ^e |
| ASL recovery | 100±0.0ª | 32.7 ± 0.8^{b} | 30.6±0.2° | 29.9±0.1 ^d | 26.0±0.3e |
| Total lignin recovery | 100±0.0 ^a | 45.6±1.1 ^d | 32.0±1.2° | 28.8 ± 0.5^{d} | 17.6±1.2 ^e |
| Total lig <mark>n</mark> in re <mark>mo</mark> val | n.d. | 54.4±1.1 ^d | 68.0±1.2° | 71.2 ± 0.5^{b} | 82.4±1.2 ^a |

Table 5 Composition of V. pusilla after H₃PO₄ pretreatment

Note: AIL* = acid-insoluble lignin, ASL** = acid-soluble lignin

The superscripted characters within rows indicate the statistical significance of the differences between them (p < 0.05), n.d. = not determined

Enzymatic Saccharification of V. pusilla Biomass

To evaluate the influence of H₃PO₄ concentration on GR and HEG, cellulose generated after pretreatment with 70%, 75%, 80%, and 85% H₃PO₄. was utilized as a substrate for enzymatic hydrolysis, as shown in Figures 4A,B. After treating raw materials with different concentrations of H₃PO₄., the yields of GR and HEG increased significantly (p < 0.05). During enzymatic saccharification, the GR and HEG yields improved considerably after 12 h, and then steadily over the next 24, 48, 72, and 96 h. The highest GR and HEG yields were observed in both untreated and treated samples after 96 h of incubation. At H₃PO₄ concentrations of 70%, 75%, 80%, and 85%, GR yields were 31.0 ± 0.2%, 40.8 ± 0.3%, 38.9 ± 0.1%, and 36.4 ± 0.1% (Figure 4A), whereas HEG yields were $65.4 \pm 0.3\%$, $88.0 \pm 0.6\%$, $88.0 \pm 0.1\%$, and $89.0 \pm 0.2\%$, respectively (Figure 4B). The HEG yields with 75% H₃PO₄ ($88.0 \pm 0.6\%$) and 80% H₃PO₄ ($88.0 \pm 0.1\%$) did not differ significantly, whereas the greatest HEG yield ($89.0 \pm 0.2\%$) was observed with 85% H₃PO₄. Furthermore, this feedstock was pretreated with 70% and 75% H₃PO₄, resulting in a substantial increase in GR yields ($31.0 \pm 0.2\%$ and $40.8 \pm 0.3\%$, respectively); however, GR yields declined marginally when H₃PO₄ concentration was increased to 80% and 85%. Moreover, the lowest yield of HEG (19.4 $\pm 0.0\%$) and GR ($11.5 \pm 0.0\%$) were obtained from untreated sample (Figure 4A,B). The yields of GR and HEG were approximately 3.5 and 4.5 times greater, respectively, than those of the raw material. This demonstrates that 75% H₃PO₄ is the optimal pretreatment for *V. pusilla* feedstock.



Figure 4 (A) Glucose recovery and (B) hydrolysis efficiency of untreated and treated biomass of *V. pusilla*



Scanning electron microscopy assessment

To gain a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship between biomass morphology and the ability of cellulase to degrade cellulose, the surface morphology of untreated and treated samples (with varied concentrations of H_3PO_4) of *V. pusilla* was evaluated using scanning electron microscopy (SEM), as shown in Figure 5A–E. The SEM images of untreated samples revealed a highly compressed fibril structure arranged in strict bundles on the surface of the *V. pusilla* biomass (Figure 5A). After pretreatment with 70% and 75% H_3PO_4 , the surface structure displayed more fractures, peeling, and fiber deconstruction. Consequently, the fibers gradually split until severely disordered, resulting in increased porosity (Figure 5B–C). Surface deconstruction increased with an increase in H_3PO_4 concentration. When treated with 80% H_3PO_4 , the fibrils disintegrated and sustained additional damage (Figure 5D), and pretreatment with 85% H_3PO_4 led to collapse of the structure (Figure 5E).

Figure 5 Surface morphology of (A) untreated and pretreated *V. pusilla* samples with (B) 70%, (C) 75%, (D) 80%, and (E) 85% H₃PO₄

Effects of H₃PO₄ on Cellulose Crystalline Structure

H₃PO₄ treatment on the crystalline cellulose of *V. pusilla* feedstock restricted cellulose digestibility. Therefore, the CrI of the untreated and treated samples was determined by operating an X-ray diffractometer (XRD). Cellulose crystallinity was altered after treatment with varying H₃PO₄ concentrations. The X-ray diffractogram pattern of the untreated sample was identified as cellulose I crystallinity that featured two major peaks at $2\theta = 15.5^{\circ}$ and $2\theta = 22.0^{\circ}$ (Figure 6), with a CrI value of 59.5% (Table 6). After the sample was treated with 70% H₃PO₄, the highest CrI value (65.0%) was observed. The CrI values were lowered to 63.5%, 49.1%, and 42.9% when the material was treated with 75%, 80%, and 85% H₃PO₄, respectively. With 70% and 75% H₃PO₄ (Table 6), the XRD patterns were still indicative of cellulose I crystallinity. However, when the sample was treated with 80% H₃PO₄, the initial transition from cellulose I II was identified because the heights of the two significant peaks of crystalline cellulose diminished more. However, XRD patterns revealed that cellulose I was fully converted into cellulose II crystallinity after pretreatment with 85% H₃PO₄ (Figure 6).

| Table 6 C | Crystallinity | index of | untreated | and H ₃ PO ₄ | pretreated | samples |
|-----------|----------------------|----------|-----------|------------------------------------|------------|---------|
|-----------|----------------------|----------|-----------|------------------------------------|------------|---------|

| 5 | Raw | Concentration of H3PO4 (%) | | | |
|---------|----------|-----------------------------------|------|------|------|
| | material | 70 | 75 | 80 | 85 |
| CrI (%) | 59.5 | 65.0 | 63.5 | 49.1 | 42.9 |

Figure 6 X-ray diffraction pattern of untreated and H₃PO₄ pretreated samples of *V. pusilla*

Ethanol Fermentation

The BH medium was produced by enzymatic hydrolysis of *V. pusilla* biomass after pretreatment with 75% H₃PO₄. In this experiment, a non-detoxified BH medium containing 20.0 g/L glucose was employed as the culture medium for cellulosic ethanol by *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339. The control group consisted of a standard (ST) medium with 20.0 g/L D-glucose (reagent grade, 98%). The patterns of bioethanol formation, yeast cell growth, and glucose consumption in both media are shown in Figures 7 and 8. According to the results, glucose consumption in both ST and BH media gradually decreased and was completely consumed after 15 h of incubation. Ethanol production was observed in the ST and BH media after 6 and 9 h of incubation, respectively. Subsequently, the ethanol yields in both media steadily increased. The maximum ethanol yields of 9.4 g/L (92.1%) and 8.9 g/L (87.5%) were obtained from the ST and BH media after 15 h of incubation, respectively. After this stage, ethanol production by the yeast in both media did not increase. However, ethanol production in the BH medium was lower than that in the ST medium (Figure 7). Furthermore, the yeast growth rate profiles in both media were comparable. The maximum growth rate was

observed in both media after 12 h of incubation. However, the growth rate of the yeast in the ST medium was greater than that in the BH medium (Figure 8).

Figure 7 Profiles of glucose consumption and bioethanol fermentation of S. *cerevisiae* TISTR 5339

Note: GST = Glucose consumption in standard medium, GBH = glucose consumption in biomass hydrolysate medium, EtOH ST = ethanol in standard medium, and EtOH BH = ethanol in biomass hydrolysate medium

Note: OD ST = optical density of yeast cell in standard medium, OD BH = optical density of yeast cell in biomass hydrolysate medium, pH ST = the pH in standard medium, and pH BH = the pH in biomass hydrolysate medium

Discussion

Compositional Analysis

According to our results, V. pusilla biomass has a higher glucan content than that of various lignocellulosic materials promoted for bioethanol manufacturing, such as spruce (47.1%), pine (45.6%) (Yu et al., 2017), barley husk (45.7%) (Fortunati et al., 2016), Douglas fir (46.1%) (Zhu & Yadama, 2018), corn cob (45.0%) (Louis & Venkatachalam, 2020), bamboo (44.6%) (Li et al., 2015), sugarcane bagasse (43.7%) (Vanitjinda et al., 2019), wheat straw (42.5%) (Tsegaye et al., 2019a), cotton stalk (42.3%) (Wang et al., 2019), rice straw (41.9%) (Zhang et al., 2020a), and eucalyptus (41.4%) (Wang et al., 2018). In addition, the glucan content was higher than that of weed lignocellulosic biomass, including Sida acuta (46.9%), Achyranthes aspera (45.9%) (Premjet et al., 2016), Prosopis juliflora (45.5%), Lantana camara (45.1%), Saccharum spontaneum (45.1%), and Siam weed (41.0%) (Kumar et al., 2020). Regarding the amount of xylan content, it was greater than that observed in sponge gourd fibers (17.4%), banana waste (14.8%) (Kumar & Sharma, 2017), cotton (16.0%), acacia (13.0%) (Kim et al., 2016a), and Japanese cedar (13.8%) (Hassan et al., 2018). In addition, the lignin content of V. pusilla was equivalent to that of rubber wood (27.6%) (Khan et al., 2018) but lower than that of several lignocellulosic biomasses promoted for biofuel production, such as oak (35.4%), Japanese cedar (33.5%) (Hassan et al., 2018), switchgrass (31.2%) (Bonfiglio et al., 2021), poplar (29.1%), and hemlock (28.5%) (Hassan et al., 2018). These results indicate that the lignocellulosic V. pusilla biomass has high potential for application in sugar platform-based biorefineries for the manufacture of cellulosic ethanol as well as other importance compounds.

Impact of H₃PO₄ on the Chemical Composition of V. pusilla Biomass

The exploitation of lignocellulosic biomass in sugar-based biorefineries requires a pretreatment procedure to break down its recalcitrant structure (Bhatia et al., 2020; Mahmood et al., 2019; Premjet et al., 2022). It has been observed that acid pretreatment with H₃PO₄ is an extremely successful method for breaking glycosidic links in lignocellulose and dissolving hemicellulose, cellulose, and a small quantity of lignin (Sathitsuksanoh et al., 2012; Woiciechowski et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2022). The results indicated that H₃PO₄ affected both partial and entire reduction of xylan from the

biomass. Under acidic conditions, hemicellulose is more sensitive to solubility than lignin and cellulose because it is amorphous, has a low degree of polymerization, and is predominantly present in the form of xylan (Chen et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2018; Satari et al., 2019; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019). In contrast, lignin is an amorphous, waterinsoluble heteropolymer composed of three cinnamyl alcohol precursors (sinapyl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and p-coumaryl alcohol) connected via various links and packed into a lignin layer in the plant cell wall, resulting in resistance to chemical pretreatment (Arora et al., 2020; Kucharska et al., 2018; Yoo et al., 2020). Consequently, even pretreatment of this biomass with the maximum concentration of H₃PO₄ (85%) resulted in only partial removal of lignin. Nevertheless, both partial xylan and lignin removal led to an increase in relative glucan content in solid recovery after pretreatment of this biomass with 70%–80% H₃PO₄ (Obeng et al., 2018; Premjet et al., 2022). However, pretreatment of feedstock with 85% H₃PO₄ led to breakdown of the linkages of the lignin-carbohydrate complex and dissolution of cellulose fibrils and hemicellulose due to destruction of hydrogen bonds between sugar chains, leading to a substantial reduction in solid recovery, glucan recovery, relative glucan content, and elimination of xylan content (Satari et al., 2019; Sathitsuksanoh et al., 2013). Furthermore, similar effects of H₃PO₄ have been observed in various feedstocks, including Luffa cylindrica (Wang et al., 2016), A. aspera and S. acuta (Premjet et al., 2016), Hibiscus sabdariffa (Premjet et al., 2018a), Durio zibethinus (Obeng et al., 2018), and *Hibiscus cannabinus* (Premjet et al., 2022).

Enzymatic Saccharification of V. pusilla Biomass

The primary goal of lignocellulosic biomass pretreatment is the elimination of hemicellulose and lignin, leaving cellulose in the solid phase for subsequent enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation (Zhao et al., 2022). When raw *V. pusilla* biomass was pretreated with varying concentrations of H₃PO₄, the GR and HEG yields were considerably enhanced for each pretreated sample depending on the concentration of H₃PO₄. These results demonstrate that the effect of H₃PO₄ pretreatment on the hydrolysis of each pretreated sample in relation to glucose was more pronounced. In contrast, enzyme hydrolysis of the raw material resulted in the lowest yields for GR and HEG. This is because of the stiffness and obstinacy of lignocellulosic feedstock, which

inhibits enzyme hydrolysis (Bhatia et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2020; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019).

During the conversion processes, lignin in lignocellulosic biomass functions as an inhibitor by preventing enzyme accessibility to cellulose and inhibiting enzymatic activity through nonproductive binding. Consequently, eliminating lignin from lignocellulosic feedstock via acidic pretreatment is crucial to minimize chemical and physical barriers and enhance the access of cellulolytic enzymes to cellulose (Satari et al., 2019; Yoo et al., 2020). These results demonstrate that increasing the concentration of H₃PO₄ positively affects both GR and HEG yields, which coincides with the elimination of AIL and ASL. The greatest GR and HEG yields were obtained when the feedstock was pretreated with 75% H₃PO₄, whereas AIL (66.9 \pm 0.2%) and ASL (69.4 \pm 0.2%) were excluded. These quantities represent the total amount of lignin (68.0 \pm 1.2%) extracted from the treated biomass. These results reveal that the increase in the yields of GR and HEG resulted from partial delignification due to H₃PO₄ pretreatment. In addition, delignification often causes the breakdown of the polymeric network, leading to increased porosity and diminished enzyme inhibitory action (Pihlajaniemi et al., 2016; Premjet et al., 2022; Satari et al., 2019). According to reports, pretreatment of various lignocellulosic biomasses using particularly aggressive methods, such as harsh bases or acids, accelerates delignification of the feedstock and disintegration of carbohydrates (Yuan et al., 2021). This suggests that complete lignin elimination is not required.

The hemicelluloses in lignocellulosic biomass are physical barriers surrounding cellulose, limiting hydrolysis reaction, restricting enzyme access to cellulose, and lowering cellulase activity. However, lignin had a greater effect than hemicellulose. Therefore, removing hemicellulose present in the xylan content may accelerate cellulose hydrolysis by expanding the exposure of cellulase to cellulose (Bhatia et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2020; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019), which is comparable to lignin. In this operation, hemicellulose was effectively eliminated from this feedstock, which was treated with 85% H₃PO₄. The glucose HEG yields of samples pretreated with 75% H₃PO₄ resulted in the highest GR (40.8 \pm 0.3%), whereas those treated with 85% H₃PO₄ resulted in the highest HEG rates (89.0 \pm 0.2%). Although the HEG

is maximum under certain circumstances, such as at a concentration of 85% H₃PO₄ in this study, the total GR may be lower due to high solid loss $(53.2 \pm 1.7\% \text{ in this study})$ under severe conditions (Premjet et al., 2018b; Yoo et al., 2017). Consequently, the entire GR process defines the pretreatment parameters used. This study confirmed that pretreatment of V. pusilla biomass with 75% H₃PO₄ was optimal condition. At this concentration, approximately $78.3 \pm 1.2\%$ and $51.1 \pm 0.7\%$ of glucan and solid, respectively, were recovered. This demonstrates that more than 50% of glucan in the treated biomass was still present. According to reports, the ideal pretreatment condition is one in which the GR level is the greatest and closest to the initial glucan content of the biomass (Obeng et al., 2018; Yoo et al., 2017). The increase in both GR and HEG yields may be attributed to the disintegration and dissolution of hemicellulose and lignin, which renders cellulose present in the treated biomass of V. pusilla vulnerable to cellulases. In comparison to other lignocellulosic biomasses, the HEG yield of the feedstock was higher than that of vegetable hummingbird (86.0%), alamo switchgrass (85.0%), eastern gamagrass (80.5%), switchgrass (73.5%) as reported by Satari et al. (Satari et al., 2019), Devil's horsewhip (86.2%), common wire-weed (82.2%) (Premjet et al., 2016), pine (80.0%), and Douglas fir (79.0%) (Hossain et al., 2020). The GR was also greater than that of Chanee durian peel (38.5%) (Obeng et al., 2018), Douglas fir (31.2%), and pine (28.0%) (Hossain et al., 2020).

SEM assessment

To accelerate the enzymatic conversion of lignocellulose to monomeric sugar, the innate stiffness of plant cell walls must be disassembled by processing using acids or bases to improve the access of enzymes to the cellulose surface (Kumar et al., 2020; Mahmood et al., 2019; Yoo et al., 2020). The raw material exhibited the structural obstinacy of *V. pusilla*, which is predominantly composed of a lignin-carbohydrate matrix, rendering it extremely resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis (Bhatia et al., 2020; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019). The structural transformation of the treated sample was accompanied by a substantial alteration in its chemical composition upon treatment with 70% and 75% H₃PO₄. This is due to H₃PO₄ pretreatment which enabled the breakdown of the resistant lignocellulose structure by destroying hemicellulose and lignin networks and increasing cellulose accessibility. Consequently, modifications in

the internal cell wall composition, such as destruction, increased porosity, and loss of recalcitrant structure, increase enzyme accessibility to cellulose (Ji et al., 2015; Satari et al., 2019). These outcomes are consistent with the steady increase in the GR, HEG yields and contribute to the maximum GR, and HEG generated by 75% H₃PO₄ pretreatment. Furthermore, the SEM micrographs of both treated samples revealed greater extent of degradation of the morphological surface when H₃PO₄ concentration was increased to 80% and 85%. This effect is caused by an upsurge in cellulose degradation under harsh conditions, resulting in a considerable decrease in GR yields (Chu et al., 2018; Gourlay et al., 2012; Ji et al., 2015; Luo et al., 2019; Moxley et al., 2008; Mund et al., 2017; Satari et al., 2019). In a previous study, we found that eliminating lignin and hemicellulose, which are physical barriers surrounding cellulose, could be a key factor contributing to the improvement in HEG and GR yields (Premjet et al., 2022). These findings validate outcome of the enzymatic hydrolysis.

Effects of H₃PO₄ on Cellulose Crystalline Structure

Cellulose is a linear polysaccharide composed of highly organized repeating glucose units. These glucan chains are linked by hydrogen bonds between molecules, resulting in a partly crystalline structure (Chundawat et al., 2011; Ling et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2013). Biomass crystallinity is a critical determinant of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose (Hall et al., 2010; Karimi & Taherzadeh, 2016; Ling et al., 2022). In this study, the CrI value of untreated biomass (59.5%) was lower than those observed for raw materials of wheat straw (69.6%) and hemp fiber (77.0%) (Xu et al., 2013). Pretreatment of various lignocellulosic biomasses with acids, alkalis, or other processes results in the partial elimination of amorphous components (hemicellulose and lignin) in the biomass, leading to a decrease in the nanocrystalline background on XRD and an increase in the CrI value (Hall et al., 2010; Ji et al., 2015; Premjet et al., 2022; Sathitsuksanoh et al., 2013; Yoo et al., 2020). These findings are consistent with the results of treatment of V. pusilla biomass with 70% and 75% H₃PO₄, and they revealed that these concentrations are incapable of decrystallizing cellulose. In addition, raising the CrI value of the pretreated biomass had no influence on the hydrolysis yields (Obeng et al., 2018; Premjet et al., 2022; Premjet et al., 2016) since the highest rates of GR and HEG were achieved after treatment with 75% H₃PO₄. The CrI value decreased

when the sample was treated with 80% H₃PO₄ because cellulose present in the treated biomass decomposed to a greater extent at higher concentrations. Moreover, during the regeneration of cellulose, the dissolved cellulose is reorganized, resulting in the modification and diminution of cellulose crystallinity (Hall et al., 2010; Obeng et al., 2018; Yoon et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2006). In addition, at 85% H₃PO₄ concentration, the peak at 15.5° was missing, whereas the peak at 22.0° was displaced to a smaller angle, resulting in a broad asymmetrical peak with multiples at 12.0°, 19.9°, and 21.6°. At higher critical concentrations of H₃PO₄ (\geq 83%), high-order hydrogen bonds in crystalline cellulose fibers were destroyed to a greater degree, resulting in cellulose I being converted into cellulose II. This enables the cellulose fiber to decompose entirely (Sathitsuksanoh et al., 2013; Sathitsuksanoh et al., 2011; Sathitsuksanoh et al., 2012).

Ethanol Fermentation

To ascertain bioethanol production from weed biomass, the *V. pusilla* BH produced by enzymatic hydrolysis was fermented using yeast. Several authors reported that inhibitors are produced during the pretreatment of lignocellulose with acid, e. g., hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF), furfural, phenolics, and other aromatic compounds, which affect microbial fermentation (Arisht et al., 2019; Bhatia et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2022). Compared to the ST medium, the non-detoxified BH medium had a greater influence on yeast cell proliferation than on ethanol production, as the BH medium may include molecules that restrict the growth of and ethanol production by *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339. Li et al., 2017 demonstrated that a series of inhibitors, including vanillin, phenol, syringaldehyde, 5-HMF, furfural, levulinic acid, acetic acid, and formic acid, affect the development of *S. cerevisiae* during glucose fermentation. These findings suggest that pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials with a high loading can result in higher sugar concentrations. However, this may also result in the development of a substantial amount of inhibitors. (Premjet et al., 2018b).

The ideal H₃PO₄ pretreatment conditions for fermentable sugar production were determined by calculating the mass balance of *V. pusilla* biomass to assess the overall process (Figure 9). The main components of the feedstock were glucan (48.1%), xylan (19.2%), Arabinan (1.2%), AIL (23.5%), and ASL (4.4%). After pretreatment with 75% H₃PO₄, approximately 51.1% of the pretreated material was recovered, including 37.6%

glucan, 2.5% xylan, 7.6% AIL, and 1.4% ASL. Both untreated and pretreated *V. pusilla* biomass were hydrolyzed with cellulase (30 FPU/g substrate) and β -glucosidase (60 U/g substrate). After 96 h of hydrolysis, the untreated sample had a HEG and GR of 19.4% and 115 g/1 kg biomass, respectively. However, the HEG and GR of the treated *V. pusilla* biomass were enhanced to 88.0% and 408 g/1 kg of biomass, respectively. Compared with the untreated sample, HEG and GR improved by approximately 4.5 and 3.5 times, respectively. Following the bioethanol production process, non-detoxified BH medium containing 20 g glucose/L prepared from the treated biomass of *V. pusilla* was fermented by *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339. As a result, approximately 51 g and 182 g of cellulosic ethanol were produced from glucose in untreated and pretreated biomass of *V. pusilla* biomass improved by approximately 3.5-fold. Our study demonstrates that non-detoxified BH medium generated from *V. pusilla* feedstock can be used as the primary source of carbon for cellulosic ethanol production by *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339.

Overall, our findings provide crucial information and suggest that H₃PO₄ treatment of *V. pusilla* feedstock has the potential to enhance the production of bioethanol. However, we suggest utilizing the response surface methodology as an experimental design in future studies to evaluate the impacts of significant pretreatment variables, including temperature, acid concentration, and duration, on solids recovery, HEG, and GR. To improve the ethanol yield by preventing inhibitory effects on organisms during fermentation, either the hydrolysate should be detoxified before being utilized as a substrate for bioethanol fermentation or organism-selected strains that are more resistant to inhibitors may be employed. This will streamline the process of producing cellulosic ethanol from weed biomass. However, microorganisms that can ferment carbohydrates and micronutrients present in the hydrolysate must be selected to obtain compounds with higher added value.

Figure 9 Mass balance of the *V. pusilla* feedstock for cellulosic ethanol production

Conclusions

The pretreatment of *V. pusilla* biomass with varying concentrations of H₃PO₄ under mild conditions was more efficient in eliminating xylan than lignin. The optimum pretreatment condition for the greatest improvement in GR and HEG was 75% H₃PO₄. Compared with the untreated sample, HEG and recovery GR improved by 4.5 and 3.5 times, respectively. The increase in both GR and HEG yields may be attributable to disintegration and dissolution of hemicellulose and lignin, which renders cellulose present in the treated biomass of *V. pusilla* vulnerable to cellulases. In addition, bioethanol fermentation in non-detoxified BH medium was established using treated *V. pusilla* biomass. Consequently, the ethanol yield was improved by approximately 3.5-fold compared with that of the untreated sample. Our research revealed that sugar platform-based biorefineries are able to utilize this sort of *V. pusilla* biomass to produce biofuels and other valuable compounds.

CHAPTER IV

PHYSICOCHEMICAL PRETREATMENT OF *VIETNAMOSASA PUSILLA* FOR BIOETHANOL AND XYLITOL PRODUCTION

Introduction

The depletion of nonrenewable fossil fuel reserves is impending, leading to a severe global energy crisis (Khan et al., 2021; Tusher et al., 2022). Consequently, the increasing demand for sustainable and renewable energy sources has driven extensive research into the production of renewable fuels and valuable compounds from nonedible biomass feedstocks (Casau et al., 2022; Khan et al., 2021; Tusher et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2022). Lignocellulosic biomass is abundant, cost-effective, and may form part of an environmentally friendly conversion process (Sun et al., 2022). Extensive research has identified lignocellulose as an alternative energy source because of its high cellulose content, which makes it a suitable bioethanol production substrate (Lee et al., 2022; Messaoudi et al., 2022; Sun et al., 2022; Wongleang et al., 2023b).

Vietnamosasa pusilla, commonly known as Pai Pek (local Thai name), belongs to the Poaceae family and is a drought-resistant weed. *V. pusilla* has been classified as a "regionally controlled weed," indicating its status as a risk group for a specific region's primary crops and the environment (Pagad, 2016; Thuy et al., 2021). *V. pusilla* has been documented to be distributed in a geographic range that includes Cambodia, Laos, Thailand, and Vietnam. The major advantage of weed biomass is its rapid development despite harsh environmental conditions and minimal cultivation requirements (Obeng et al., 2019). However, the recalcitrant structure of all lignocellulosic materials, such as hemicellulose, lignin, and cellulose, makes digestion with enzymes difficult, leading to a lower bioconversion yield (Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). Therefore, pretreatment is crucial for the enhancement of sugar conversion and the facilitation of the release of fermentable sugars (Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022).

Among the various pretreatment methods, alkaline pretreatment has gained wide acceptance because of its simplicity, non-corrosiveness, lack of pollutants, and strong pretreatment effectiveness under mild reaction conditions, leading to fewer inhibitory compounds (An et al., 2021). This method creates an intricate ligninhemicellulose network, enhancing lignin removal and increasing the surface area and porosity of the biomass. Consequently, enzymatic hydrolysis is enhanced, and a higher fraction of carbohydrates is preserved (Olatunji et al., 2022; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). NaOH pretreatment, which is a common alkaline pretreatment, effectively breaks down lignin by solubilizing lignin carbohydrate bonds, increasing the cellulose surface area, and reducing the sugar content (Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). Furthermore, the effectiveness of the NaOH pretreatment can be improved by integrating a heating method that involves subjecting the material to high temperatures and pressures. NaOH-assisted thermal pretreatment is considered a highly efficient method for breaking down the recalcitrant structure of lignocellulose while minimally impacting cellulose and hemicellulose. This process effectively removes a large amount of lignin, reduces cellulose crystallinity, and enhances the specific surface area of cellulose for enzymatic saccharification (Obeng et al., 2021; Shukla et al., 2023; Zhao et al., 2022). This method has been successfully utilized for the pretreatment of several types of biomasses, including rice straw (Kumar et al., 2023), water hyacinth (Chinwatpaiboon et al., 2023), soybean hull (Sarmiento-Vásquez et al., 2022), cassava (Papathoti et al., 2021; Papathoti et al., 2022), Arachis hypogea shells (Olatunji et al., 2022), sugarcane bagasse (Melesse et al., 2022), Pennisetum purpureum (Haldar & Purkait, 2022; Manokhoon & Rangseesuriyachai, 2020), wheat straw (Wang et al., 2021), durian peel (Obeng et al., 2021), Sicyos angulatus (An et al., 2021), and *Miscanthus* \times *giganteus* (Jung et al., 2020).

This study aimed to determine the effects of chemical pretreatment on *V. pusilla* feedstock. The *V. pusilla* enzymatic hydrolysate was used as a substrate for bioethanol and xylitol production. Our findings may help in optimizing the efficiency of cellulosic ethanol and xylitol production using plant-based biomass.

Materials and methods

Sample preparation

The above-ground biomass of *V. pusilla* was collected from a naturally occurring location in the Wang Thong district of Phitsanulok, Thailand. The specimen was subjected to a cleansing process using tap water and, following that, completed a drying period of five days under shaded conditions. Subsequently, the specimens were separated into shorter pieces of around 5 cm in length and subsequently subjected to pulverization through the utilization of a wood mill (Retsch, Haan, Germany). For subsequent examination and analysis, the powder was sieved through a 150–300 μ m laboratory test sieve and stored in bottles at 25 °C (Hames et al., 2008).

Chemical composition analysis

The details of these analytical methodologies are described in a previous report by Premjet et al., 2018a. The composition of *V. pusilla* feedstock was investigated before and after alkali pretreatment. National renewable energy laboratory techniques were employed to evaluate the sugar and lignin contents of the sample (Sluiter et al., 2012). Ultraviolet–visible (UV-Vis) spectrophotometer (Analytik Jena Specord 40, Analytik Jena AG, Jena, Germany) absorbance at 205 nm was utilized to assess acidsoluble lignin.

Monomeric sugar, ethanol, and xylitol were analyzed using a high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC; Agilent 1100, Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) system integrated with a refractive index detector (G1362A; Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) and a Bio-Rad Aminex-HPX 87H column (300 mm \times 7.8 mm; Hercules, CA, USA), which were maintained at 55 and 60 °C, respectively. The mobile phase consisted of 0.005 M sulfuric acid with a 0.6 mL/min flow rate. The injection volume was 20 µL (Premjet et al., 2022).

Alkaline-Catalyzed Steam Pretreatment

The pretreatment technique was employed in a previous study conducted by Obeng et al., 2019. In a 125-mL Erlenmeyer flask, 3 g of *V. pusilla* feedstock was soaked in 24 mL of NaOH solution (1%, 2%, 3%, and 4% w/v), and the flasks were autoclaved (Hirayama, HVA-85, Toyono-cho, Kasukabe-shi, Saitama, Japan) at 120 °C

and 15 psi of pressure for 60 min. Then, the *V. pusilla* sample with the ideal NaOH concentration was subjected to treatment at 110 °C, 120 °C, and 130 °C at 15 psi of pressure for 60 min. At the end of the pretreatment process, the slurry was rapidly ice-cooled and then filtered. The solid portion was washed thoroughly with deionized water to attain a neutral pH. The washed alkaline-catalyzed steam pretreated biomass samples were used for further analysis (Obeng et al., 2019).

Enzymatic Hydrolysis

The process of enzymatic hydrolysis of both raw and treated *V. pusilla* biomass was monitored using methods that have been previously reported with slight modifications (Obeng et al., 2019). A 50 mL Erlenmeyer flask containing 10 mL of digestion solution was used to hydrolyze 0.1 g of biomass (dry weight) from both the raw and pretreated samples. The enzyme mixture used in the digestion process included 30 filter paper units (FPU) of cellulase (*Trichoderma reesei* C2730, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), 60 U xylanase (*Trichoderma longibrachiatum* X2629, Sigma-Aldrich, Co., St. Louis, USA), and 60 U-glucosidase (Oriental Yeast Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) per gram of dry biomass in a sodium citrate buffer (pH 4.8) with 2% (w/v) sodium azide. The flask of each reaction was incubated at 50 °C and 150 rpm for 96 h in a rotary shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA). At 12, 24, 48, 72, and 96 h intervals, 200 µL of hydrolysate were collected for sugar determination (Obeng et al., 2019).

The hydrolysis efficiencies of glucose (HEG) and xylose (HEX), glucose recovery (GR), and xylose recovery (XR) were determined using the following equations from Obeng et al. (Obeng et al., 2019) and Sun et al. (Sun et al., 2022):

$$HEG (\%) = \frac{Glucose generated by hydrolysis (g) \times 100}{1.11*Initial glucan in substrate (g)}$$
(7)

$$\text{HEX (\%)} = \frac{\text{Xylose generated by hydrolysis (g) × 100}}{1.14*\text{Initial amount of xylan in substrate (g)}}$$
(8)

$$GR(\%) = (solid recovery \times glucan in substrate \times 1.11 \times HEG) \times 100$$
(9)

$$XR(\%) = (solid recovery \times xylan in substrate \times 1.14 \times HEX) \times 100$$
(10)

Where 1.11 and 1.14 are the conversion factors for glucan and xylan to glucose and xylose, respectively.

Determination of Biomass Microstructure

The specific method for determination is described in a previous study (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021). The raw and treated *V. pusilla* feedstocks were freezedried. All samples were gold-coated and mounted on aluminum stubs. All coated biomasses were captured employing field emission scanning electron microscope (FESEM; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Apero S, Waltham, MA, USA) (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021).

Crystallinity of Biomass

The method of analysis was previously explained in a study by (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021). Both the untreated and treated feedstocks were washed three times with acetone and left at 25 °C for 12 h. They were then ground and sieved, and fraction-size screens ranging from 100 to 150 μ m were collected. X-ray diffraction (PANalytical X'pert Pro, PW 3040/60, Almelo, The Netherlands) was used to measure the crystallinity index (CrI) of all samples. The samples were scanned between 10°–40° at 0.02° s⁻¹/min.

Microorganisms

In this study, bioethanol and xylitol were produced using *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 and *Candida tropicalis* TISTR 5171, respectively. These yeast strains were purchased in special order and submitted to the Thailand Institute of Science and Technology (TISTR).

Preparation of Seed Culture

A single loop from yeast strain, *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 and *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171, was used as the initial inoculum. *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 was placed into a 50 mL Falcon tube with 10 mL of yeast malt medium and incubated with a rotating shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA) at 30 °C for 18 h. *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 was transferred to a 50 mL Falcon tube containing 10 mL of yeast malt peptone medium and incubated using a rotary shaker at 30 °C for 24 h.

Preparing Biomass Hydrolysate for Ethanol Production

The biomass hydrolysate (BH) was prepared according to procedures outlined in a previous study (Premjet et al., 2018b). The BH of *V. pusilla* obtained from enzymatic hydrolysis was boiled for 20 minutes at 100 °C in a water bath to terminate the reaction. The hydrolysate was centrifuged for 2 h at 12,000× g. Afterward, it was passed through a glass microfiber filter to eliminate impurities. Then, a rotary evaporator was used to concentrate the hydrolysate until it contained approximately 20 g/L glucose. The hydrolysate was neutralized with 1 M NaOH to increase the pH of hydrolysate to 6. Finally, the BH of *V. pusilla* was maintained at 4 °C for future experiments.

Preparing Biomass Hydrolysate for Xylitol Production

The liquid fraction, a byproduct of ethanol production, was separated by centrifugation at $12,000 \times g$ for 1 h and passed through a glass microfiber filter to remove yeast cells and other contaminants. Subsequently, a rotary vacuum evaporator containing 20 g/L xylose was used to condense the liquid into xylose biomass hydrolysate (XBH). The pH of XBH was adjusted to 5.5 and stored overnight at 4 °C.

Then, the mixture was centrifuged for 1 h at $12,000 \times g$ and passed through a glass filter. The XBH was then stored at 4 °C for use in future studies (Premjet et al., 2018b).

Medium for Bioethanol and Xylitol Production

Ethanol was produced using the control and the BH media. The BH medium contained glucose derived from the biomass, whereas commercial glucose was used as the carbon source in the control medium. Each medium was prepared by adding 20 g/L glucose, 10 g/L peptone, 10 g/L yeast extract, 2 g/L MgSO₄, and 2 g/L K₂HPO₄, and the pH was set at 6 (Premjet et al., 2018b).

Xylitol production requires XBH and control media. The XBH medium used xylose derived from biomass as its carbon source, whereas the control medium relied on commercial xylose. Each medium contained 20 g/L xylose, 5 g/L yeast extract, 1 g/L MgSO₄, 1 g/L KH₂PO₄, and 1 g/L NH₄Cl at a pH of 5.5 (Ngamsirisomsakul et al., 2021).

In this study, all liquid culture media were prepared under aseptic conditions and passed through a Millipore filter with a 0.2 µm pore size (Merck Ltd. Tullagreen, Carrigtwohill, Co., Cork, Ireland).

Ethanol Fermentation

The production of bioethanol utilized 50 mL of both BH and a control medium. Both media were inoculated with 2% (v/v) *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 seed culture and incubated at 30 °C on a rotary shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA) at 150 rpm for 24 h. After 3, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21, and 24 h of incubation, the liquid fraction was harvested for HPLC measurement of sugar uptake and ethanol generation. The optical density (OD) at 600 nm was utilized to monitor the growth of microorganisms using a UV spectrophotometer (Premjet et al., 2018b).

Xylitol Fermentation

The total volume of the XBH and control media used for xylitol production was 50 mL. A 5% seed culture of *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 was injected into both media and then incubated on a rotary shaker (Innova 4340, New Brunswick Scientific Company, Edison, New Jersey, USA) at 200 rpm for 7 days at 30 °C. The amounts of

xylose consumed, and xylitol produced, were subsequently determined by collecting 1 mL of the liquid fraction daily for HPLC analysis. The xylitol yield was determined using the following equation:

$$Xylitol yield (\%) = \frac{Xylitol in fermentation liquid (g) \times 100}{0.905 \times Xylose initial (g)}$$
(11)

Results

Composition of Raw Biomass

The chemical structure of the *V. pusilla* biomass (dry weight) sample comprised glucan (48.1 \pm 0.3%), xylan (19.2 \pm 0.4%), arabinan (1.2 \pm 0.1%), acid insoluble lignin (AIL: 23.5 \pm 0.1%), and acid soluble lignin (ASL: 4.4 \pm 0.1%). These components constituted approximately 68.5% and 27.9% of the total carbohydrate and lignin contents, respectively. In a previous chapter, this composition was evaluated and discussed.

Effect of NaOH Concentration on Composition

V. pusilla feedstock was pretreated with 1%, 2%, 3%, and 4% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 min to determine the optimal NaOH concentration for pretreatment. Changes in the chemical composition of the biomass before and after pretreatment with varying concentrations of NaOH are presented in Table 7. This study revealed that NaOH pretreatment significantly influences the partial dissolution of lignin and carbohydrates from this weed biomass.

As the concentration of NaOH increased, both glucan and xylan contents increased significantly (p < 0.05). The relative glucan content gradually increased by $55.3 \pm 0.5\%$, $67.2 \pm 0.1\%$, $68.0 \pm 0.0\%$, and $71.0 \pm 0.2\%$, when treated with 1%, 2%, 3%, and 4% NaOH, respectively. The xylan content increased by $21.9 \pm 0.2\%$ and $21.3 \pm 0.3\%$ after treatment with 1% and 2% NaOH, respectively, although the improvements were not statistically significant (p < 0.05). When the concentration of NaOH increased to 3% and 4%, the xylan content declined substantially to $20.1 \pm 0.2\%$ and $17.8 \pm 0.4\%$, respectively. Arabinan was not detected in any treated samples (Table 7).

| Composition (% dw) | Untreated | Concentration of NaOH | | | |
|---------------------|-----------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------|----------------------------|
| composition (70 dw) | Sample | 1% | 2% | 3% | 4% |
| Glucan | 48.1±0.3 e | 55.3±0.5 ^d | 67.2±0.1 ° | 68.0±0.0 ^b | 71.0±0.2 ^a |
| Xylan | 19.2±0.4 ° | 21.9±0.2 ^a | 21.3±0.3 ^a | 20.1 ± 0.2 ^b | 17.8±0.4 ^d |
| Arabinan | 1.2±0.1 | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. |
| AIL* | 23.5±0.1 ^a | $21.8{\pm}0.0~^{\text{b}}$ | 20.9±0.1 ° | 18.1 ± 0.5 ^d | 15.4±0.3 ^e |
| ASL** | 4.4±0.1 ^a | 3.0±0.0 ^b | 2.9±0.0 ^b | $2.9{\pm}0.0$ ^b | $2.9{\pm}0.0$ ^b |
| Total lignin | 27.9±0.2 ^a | 24.8±0.1 b | 23.9±0.1 ° | 21.0±0.5 ^d | 18.3±0.3 ^e |

Table 7 Chemical compositions of V. pusilla after NaOH pretreatment at 120 °C

Note: AIL* = acid-insoluble lignin, ASL** = acid-soluble lignin

The superscripted characters within rows indicate the statistical significance of the differences between them (p < 0.05), n.d. = not determined

In addition, increasing the NaOH concentration from 1% to 4% resulted in substantial declines in AIL and total lignin content. The minimum quantities of AIL (15.4 \pm 0.3%) and the total lignin (18.3 \pm 0.3%) were obtained by feedstock treated with 4% NaOH. However, ASL content significantly decreased (p < 0.05) with 1% NaOH, whereas higher concentrations of NaOH (2%–4%) had no effect on ASL reduction (Table 7). The results reveal that the total lignin content declined from 27.9 \pm 0.2% (raw biomass) to 18.3 \pm 0.3%. Approximately 66% of delignification was attributed to this pretreatment method (Figure 10).

The results reveal a gradual reduction in the recovery yields of solids, xylan and glucan, which progressively declined as the NaOH concentration raised (Figure 11). After treating the feedstock with 1%–4% NaOH, the solid recovery yields ranged from $51.4 \pm 0.8\%$ to $65.5 \pm 0.7\%$, whereas the xylan recovery yields ranged from $47.5 \pm 1.0\%$ to $74.7 \pm 0.6\%$. However, there was no significant (p < 0.05) difference in the glucan recovery yield after pretreatment with 1%, 3%, or 4% NaOH. NaOH concentrations of 2% resulted in the highest glucan recovery yields ($81.0 \pm 0.1\%$). The results indicate that, by pretreating the sample with 1%–4% NaOH, solid and glucan recovery yields greater than 50% and 75% were achieved, respectively. Nevertheless, a xylan recovery yield greater than 50% was obtained by treatment with 1%–3% NaOH.

The maximum yields for solid recovery $(65.5 \pm 0.7\%)$ and xylan recovery $(74.7 \pm 0.6\%)$ were achieved with 1% NaOH, whereas the highest yield for glucan recovery $(81.0 \pm 0.1\%)$ was acquired with 2% NaOH.

Note: The significance of the variations in concentrations (p < 0.05), is shown by the superscripted characters; n.d. = not determined.


Figure 11 Recovery yields after pretreatment at difference NaOH concentration Note: The significance of the variations in concentrations (p < 0.05), is shown by the superscripted characters; n.d. = not determined.

Effect of NaOH Concentration on Hydrolysis Yield

To determine the suitable NaOH concentration for the pretreatment of weedy feedstock, the treated biomass samples were subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis. The highest yields of GR, HEG, XR, and HEX were obtained after 96 h of hydrolysis (Figures 12 and 13). The findings reveal that the yields of untreated feedstock for GR, HEG, XR, and HEX were $11.5 \pm 0.0\%$, $19.4 \pm 0.0\%$, $5.0 \pm 0.0\%$, and $20.1 \pm 0.1\%$, respectively. After treating the feedstock with 1%, 2%, 3%, and 4% NaOH, the yields of GR, HEG, XR, and HEX were significantly (p < 0.05) higher than those of the untreated material. However, the increase in HEG yields of 2% ($88.4 \pm 0.0\%$), 3% ($87.8 \pm 0.2\%$), and 4% NaOH ($87.7 \pm 0.3\%$) did not differ statistically. Nevertheless, the greatest yield of GR ($42.4 \pm 0.0\%$) was obtained from a sample treated with 2% NaOH.

Moreover, the levels of GR diminished at NaOH concentrations of 3% (39.2 \pm 0.1%) and 4% (39.5 \pm 0.1%), but no significant differences were observed (p < 0.05). The highest yield of HEX (85.3 \pm 0.4%) was generated from the sample treated with 4% NaOH, whereas the yield of XR (10.1 \pm 0.0%) was the lowest. However, the XR

yields were enhanced at 1% (11.9 \pm 0.1), 2% (11.8 \pm 0.1), and 3% (12.1 \pm 0.1) NaOH, but the difference was not statistically significant between them (Figures 12 and 13). Additionally, treatment of *V. pusilla* biomass with 2% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 min resulted in 3.7- and 2.4-fold boosts in GR and XR yields, respectively, when compared with untreated feedstock. The yields of HEG and HEX increased by approximately 4.6 and 3.7 times, respectively.



Figure 12 Glucose recovery (GR) and hydrolysis efficiency of glucose (HEG) of untreated and pretreated biomass of *V. pusilla*



Figure 13 Xylose recovery (XR) and hydrolysis efficiency of xylose (HEX) of untreated and pretreated biomass of *V. pusilla*



Effect of Temperature on Biomass Composition

To determine the suitable pretreatment temperature, *V. pusilla* feedstock was treated with 2% NaOH for 60 min at various temperatures. The relative glucan content increased to 65.1 \pm 0.3%, 67.2 \pm 0.1%, and 67.1 \pm 0.3% when the temperature was raised to 110 °C, 120 °C, and 130 °C, respectively. The increase in glucan content at 120 °C and 130 °C was not statistically different (*p* < 0.05). However, the maximum relative xylan content (22.5 \pm 0.1%) was observed at 110 °C, which was subsequently reduced to 21.3 \pm 0.3% and 19.3 \pm 0.2% at 120 °C and 130 °C, respectively. Arabinan did not appear in any of the treatment materials (Table 8).

Table 8 Chemical compositions of V. pusilla after 2% NaOH pretreatment at different temperatures

| | - A - A - A | | | |
|---------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Composition (% dw) | Untreated | Temperatures (°C) | | |
| composition (70 uw) | Sample | 110 | 120 | 130 |
| Glucan | 48.1±0.3 ° | 65.1±0.3 ^b | 67 <mark>.2±</mark> 0.1 ^a | 67.1±0.3 ^a |
| Xylan | 19.2±0.4 ° | 22.5±0.1 ^a | 21.3±0.3 ^b | 19.3±0.2 ° |
| Arabinan | 1.2±0.1 | n.d. | n.d. | n.d. |
| AIL* | 23.5±0.1 ^a | 23.0±0.1 ^a | 20.9±0.1 ^b | 16.1±0.5 ° |
| ASL** | 4.4±0.1 ^a | 3.2±0.0 ^b | 2.9±0.0 ° | 2.9±0.0 ° |
| Total lignin | 27.9±0.2 ª | 26.1±0.1 ^b | 23.9±0.1 ° | 19.0±0.5 ^d |

Note: AIL* = acid-insoluble lignin, ASL** = acid-soluble lignin

The superscripted characters within rows indicate the statistical significance of the differences between them (p < 0.05), n.d. = not determined

At 110 °C, a slight variation in AIL content between the treated $(23.0 \pm 0.1\%)$ and untreated samples $(23.5 \pm 0.1\%)$ was observed. The AIL content was then substantially reduced at higher temperatures $(120 \ ^{\circ}C \text{ and } 130 \ ^{\circ}C)$. Moreover, a decrease in ASL was observed when the temperature increased. The amount of ASL diminished at 120 °C ($2.9 \pm 0.0\%$) and 130 °C ($2.9 \pm 0.0\%$) and did not differ significantly (p < 0.05). Nevertheless, a gradual decrease in the total lignin content coupled with an increase in the pretreatment temperature was observed. Feedstock treated at 130 °C resulted in the smallest amounts of AIL ($16.1 \pm 0.5\%$), ASL ($2.9 \pm 0.0\%$), and total lignin ($19.0 \pm 0.5\%$). The evidence showed that the overall amount of lignin decreased from 27.9 ± 0.2 (untreated sample) to $19.0 \pm 0.5\%$ (at 130 °C) (Table 8). This pretreatment strategy was responsible for approximately 66% delignification, which was equivalent to that of the sample treated with 4% NaOH, as shown in Figures 10 and 14.

The results reveal that the temperature increase accompanied a reduction in the solid, xylan, and glucan recovery yields. At 110 °C, the highest recovery yields were obtained for solids ($65.4 \pm 0.6\%$), glucan ($88.6 \pm 0.4\%$), and xylan ($76.6 \pm 0.4\%$). However, the minimum amounts of the solid ($49.9 \pm 0.7\%$), xylan ($50.1 \pm 0.6\%$), and glucan ($69.7 \pm 0.3\%$) recovery yields were obtained at 130 °C. Therefore, the temperature may significantly influence the decline in the recovery yields of solids, xylan, glucan, and total lignin (Figure 15).



Figure 14 Lignin recovery and removal after pretreatment at different temperatures

Note: The significance of the variations in temperature (p < 0.05), is shown by the superscripted characters; n.d. = not determined



Figure 15 Recovery yields after pretreatment at different temperatures

Note: The significance of the variations in temperature (p < 0.05), is shown by the superscripted characters; n.d. = not determined

Effect of Temperature on Hydrolysis Yield

To determine the optimal pretreatment temperature, the biomass of *V. pusilla* was treated with 2% NaOH at various temperatures and subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis. Pretreatment of the feedstock with 2% NaOH at 110 °C, 120 °C, and 130 °C was demonstrated to considerably increase the quantities of GR, HEG, XR, and HEX (Figures 16 and 17). Compared with the untreated sample, the GR yields expanded to $37.6 \pm 0.1\%$, $42.4 \pm 0.0\%$, and $36.9 \pm 0.1\%$ at 110 °C, 120 °C, and 130 °C, respectively. When the temperature increased, the HEG and HEX yields increased steadily. The highest yields of HEG (89.3 ± 0.3%) and HEX (84.4 ± 0.2%) were achieved at 130 °C. Whereas the highest yield of XR (12.9 ± 0.0%) was achieved at 110 °C. The yields dropped dramatically at higher temperatures (120 °C and 130 °C). These findings confirm that samples treated with 2% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 min produced the highest yield of GR ($42.4 \pm 0.0\%$).



Figure 16 Glucose recovery (GR) and hydrolysis efficiency of glucose (HEG)

of untreated and pretreated biomass of V. pusilla



Figure 17 Xylose recovery (XR) and hydrolysis efficiency of xylose (HEX) of untreated and pretreated biomass of *V. pusilla*

Effect of Pretreatment on Crystalline Structure

The effect of NaOH pretreatment on *V. pusilla* crystalline cellulose was investigated using XRD. Consequently, all the untreated and treated biomass samples with varying NaOH concentrations and temperatures were analyzed. The XRD patterns are shown in Figures 18 and 19. All the treated and untreated samples were identified as cellulose I based on their XRD patterns, which consisted of two significant peaks at $2\theta = 15.5^{\circ}$ and $2\theta = 22^{\circ}$. The untreated sample exhibited the lowest CrI value (59.5%). The CrI values of all treated samples increased after pretreatment with different NaOH concentrations and temperatures applied to the feedstock. The sample treated with 1%–4% NaOH exhibited increased CrI values ranging from 66.2% to 67.9%. However, when this sample was treated at various temperatures, the CrI increased from 67.4% to 68.5% (Table 9).



Figure 18 X-ray diffraction pattern of untreated and pretreated *V. pusilla* with varying concentrations of NaOH



Figure 19 X-ray diffraction pattern of untreated and 2% NaOH treated V. pusilla with varying temperatures

| Concentration (%) | Temperatu <mark>re (°C</mark>) | CrI (%) |
|-------------------|---------------------------------|---------|
| Untreated | 750 | 59.5 |
| 1% NaOH | 120 | 66.2 |
| 2% NaOH | 120 | 67.6 |
| 3% NaOH | 120 | 67.7 |
| 4% NaOH | 120 | 67.9 |
| 2% NaOH | 110 | 68.5 |
| 2% NaOH | 130 | 67.4 |

Table 9 Crystallinity index of the untreated and NaOH-pretreated of V. pusilla

Effect of Pretreatment on Morphological Structure

SEM was used to evaluate the surface morphology of untreated *V. pusilla*, which was subjected to alkaline-assisted thermal pretreatment with varying concentrations of NaOH and temperatures. The results are shown in Figures 20A–E and 21A–D. The untreated specimens exhibited a dense morphology characterized by bundled fiber organization and a smooth surface devoid of porosity. Following

exposure to different concentrations of NaOH and temperatures, the surface morphology of the sample was considerably altered, resulting in the disorganization of the fibers. Furthermore, an increase in NaOH concentration and temperature resulted in a higher degree of surface fragmentation, which was characterized by the presence of distinct elongated fissures, deep crevices, and pores (Figures 20A–E and 21A–D).



Figure 20 Surface morphology of (A) untreated and NaOH-pretreated samples at (B) 1%, (C) 2%, (D) 3%, and (E) 4% NaOH



Figure 21 Surface morphology of (A) untreated and 2% NaOH-pretreated samples at (B) 110 °C, (C) 120 °C, and (D) 130 °C

Ethanol Fermentation

Enzymatic hydrolysis produces a sugar solution called biomass hydrolysate (BH), which contains glucose and xylose. To utilize the glucose in *V. pusilla* BH for ethanol fermentation, the BH was concentrated using a rotary vacuum evaporator to generate approximately 20 g/L glucose. Upon completion of the concentration procedure, BH was found to contain a mixture of 20 and 10 g/L of glucose and xylose, respectively. These findings reveal that xylose, a byproduct of BH, has great potential for utilization in the production of other high-value products. To obtain the maximum benefit from *V. pusilla* BH medium, we first fermented the medium without detoxification using *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 to create bioethanol. Within 24 h, we analyzed the consumption of glucose and xylose, amount of bioethanol, exponential growth of yeast cells, and pH of the media to evaluate the potential of *V. pusilla* BH medium for bioethanol production. The standard medium contained 20 g/L of D-glucose (98% reagent grade) and 10 g/L of xylose (99% reagent grade). The results are summarized in Figures 22 and 23. The yeast strain *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 rapidly

consumes glucose and concurrently produces ethanol. In both standard and BH media, glucose was consumed entirely within 9 h. After 15 h of incubation, the standard medium generated a maximal ethanol yield of $91.8 \pm 1.6\%$ or 9.7 ± 0.2 g/L, whereas the BH medium allowed a yield of $89.6 \pm 0.1\%$ or 9.4 ± 0.0 g/L. After incubation for 15 h, ethanol production in both media decreased slightly. Addition-ally, xylose in both media was slightly diminished, but it was still present in the standard (7.9 ± 0.2 g/L) and the BH media (7.1 ± 0.5 g/L), as shown in Figure 22.

The growth patterns of *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 were similar in both media, and the pH changes were also comparable. After 24 h of incubation, the yeast growth rate in the standard medium reached its maximum value. However, the highest growth rate of yeast cells was observed after 12 h of incubation in BH medium, with the growth rate decreasing as the incubation duration increased (Figure 23).



Figure 22 Profiles of sugar consumption and bioethanol production of S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 in standard and biomass hydrolysate

Note: GST = glucose consumption in standard medium, GBH = glucose consumption in biomass hydrolysate medium, XST = xylose consumption in standard medium, XBH = xylose consumption in biomass hydrolysate medium, EtOH ST = ethanol in standard medium, and EtOH BH = biomass hydrolysate medium



Figure 23 Cell density of *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339 in standard and biomass hydrolysate medium

Note: CD-ST = cell density of yeast cell in standard medium, CD-BH = cell density of yeast cell in biomass hydrolysate medium, pH-ST = the pH in standard medium, and (pH-BH) = the pH in biomass hydrolysate medium

Xylitol Production

Following ethanol production, the liquid component was precipitated using centrifugation and filtered to remove yeast cells and a variety of impurities. Subsequently, the liquid was concentrated to a xylose concentration of 20 g/L. These concentrations were then used as carbon sources in the XBH medium for xylitol production. The xylose control (XC) medium used for the evaluation was prepared using D-xylose (99% reagent grade) at a concentration of 20 g/L. *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 was cultured in XBH medium without detoxification and XC medium to produce xylitol. Several parameters, including xylose consumption, xylitol concentration, yeast cell proliferation, and medium pH, were examined to evaluate the xylitol producing potential of each medium. The results of these assessments are shown in Figures 24 and 25.

During the incubation period, the growth patterns of C. tropicalis TISTR 5171 and the alterations in pH observed in both XC and XBH media were comparable. After 5 days of incubation, the yeast reached its maximal growth rate in both XC and XBH media, whereas the pH varied from 5.5 to 6.1 and 5.5 to 6.6 in XC and XBH media, respectively (Figure 24).

The results demonstrate that, within 2 days of incubation, C. tropicalis TISTR 5171 entirely consumed xylose in both XC and XBH media, whereas xylitol synthesis steadily increased. Maximum xylitol yield $(10.3 \pm 0.1 \text{ g/L}, \text{ or xylitol yield } 56.6 \pm 0.1\%)$ was achieved from the XC medium after 2 days of incubation. However, the highest pro-duction of xylitol (9.6 ± 0.1 g/L, or xylitol yield 52.5 ± 0.3%) was achieved after 3 days of culture in the XBH medium. Subsequently, xylitol production steadily declined in both the XC and XBH media (Figure 25).



Figure 24 Cell density of *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 in xylose control and xylose biomass hydrolysate medium

Note: CD-XC = cell density of *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 in xylose control medium, CD-XBH = cell density of *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 in xylose biomass hydrolysate medium, pH-XC = the pH in xylose control medium, and pH-XBH = the pH in xylose biomass hydrolysate medium



Figure 25 Profiles of xylose consumption and xylitol production of *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171 in control and biomass hydrolysate media

Note: XC = xylose consumption in control medium, XBH = xylose consumption in biomass hydrolysate medium, Xylitol-XC = xylitol in control medium, and Xylitol-XBH = xylitol in biomass hydrolysate medium

Discussion

Effect of NaOH Concentration on Composition

Utilizing lignocellulosic material in sugar-based biorefinery platforms necess pretreatment processes to facilitate the breakdown of the recalcitrance structure of plant cell wall (Galbe & Wallberg, 2019; Wongleang et al., 2023b). Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass with NaOH effectively removes lignin and hemicellulose, while only partially solubilizing cellulose, depending on the reaction concentration, duration, and the environmental conditions (Modenbach & Nokes, 2014).

An increase in relative glucan content was attributable to the partial elimination of lignin and hemicellulose fractions from the sample, as observed in Chloris barbata (Obeng et al., 2019), two varieties of durian peel (Obeng et al., 2021), cassava stem waste (Papathoti et al., 2022), Sida acuta (Premjet et al., 2018b), spent coffee grounds (Wongsiridetchai et al., 2018), rice straw (Ashoor & Sukumaran, 2020), and Sicyos angulatus (An et al., 2021). According to our findings, the relative xylan content improved markedly at 1%-3% NaOH, whereas xylan content declined significantly (p < 0.05) at 4% NaOH, which may be because of the increased breakdown of hemicellulose compounds in the presence of a higher concentration of NaOH (Wongsiridetchai et al., 2018; Yan et al., 2020). At mild concentrations, NaOH (0-3%) had a minor impact on decomposing its hemicellulose during hydrothermal treatment (Sato et al., 2019), which resulted in an increase in the relative xylan content. Therefore, the increase in xylan content after NaOH pretreatment is contingent on the lignocellulosic biomass type. The phenomenon has been observed in Sida acuta (Premjet et al., 2018b), spent coffee grounds (Wongsiridetchai et al., 2018), rice straw (Ashoor & Sukumaran, 2020), herbaceous and woody lignocelluloses (Wang et al., 2020), Corn Cob and Sweet Sorghum Bagasse (Mafa et al., 2020), and Sicyos angulatus (An et al., 2021).

Delignification, which is total lignin removal (AIL and ASL) in the pretreatment process, is caused by the OH⁻ which liberated from NaOH, reacting and destroying internal-molecular α - and β -aryl ether and C-C bonds in lignin molecules. Consequently, increasing NaOH concentrations, which resulted in a greater amount of OH⁻, had substantial impacts on lignin degradation. (Jung et al., 2020; Kim et al.,

2016b; Mohd Sukri et al., 2014; Yoo et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2012), as demonstrated by a variety of lignocellulosic materials, including brewer's spent grain (Fernández-Delgado et al., 2019), wheat straw (Tsegaye et al., 2019b), grass waste (Yan et al., 2020), and *Pennisetum purpureum* (Haldar & Purkait, 2022). Moreover, delignification efficiencies in this study ranged from $41.9 \pm 0.1\%$ to $66.4 \pm 0.5\%$, which is lower than the pretreatment of *V. pusilla* biomass with H₃PO₄ (54.4 ± 1.1% to 82.4 ± 1.2%) (Wongleang et al., 2023b).

However, the decrease in recovery yields of solid, xylan, and glucan can be attributed to the impact of NaOH during the weed biomass pretreatment process. This is mainly because NaOH can destroy the covalent bonds between lignin and hemicellulose within the lignin-carbohydrate complex, leading to the disintegration of both lignin and hemicellulose (Jung et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2016b; Mohd Sukri et al., 2014; Yoo et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2012). In particular, the disintegration of H bonds in OH⁻ groups of carbohydrates, including glucan, xylan, mannan, arabinan, and galactan, contributed to the degradation of these sugars (Kim et al., 2016b; Yoo et al., 2020). Consequently, increasing the NaOH concentration led to greater carbohydrate degradation, which considerably reduced the recovery yields of all solids, glucan, and xylan, as observed in *Chloris barbata* (Obeng et al., 2019), grass waste (Yan et al., 2020), and durian peel (Obeng et al., 2021). Additionally, the elimination of lignin, and other chemical compounds from the feedstock had a substantial effect on the decreased amount of solid recovery at various NaOH concentrations (Haldar & Purkait, 2022; Obeng et al., 2019), which also occurred in Sida acuta (Premjet et al., 2018b), rice straw (Sato et al., 2019), grass waste (Yan et al., 2020), Sicyos angulatus (An et al., 2021), cassava stem (Papathoti et al., 2022), and Pennisetum purpureum (Haldar & Purkait, 2022; Manokhoon & Rangseesuriyachai, 2020).

Effect of NaOH Concentration on Hydrolysis Yield

The untreated samples generated the lowest quantity of enzymatic hydrolysis products. Lignocellulosic matter is resistant to decomposition by microorganisms and enzymes because of its rigidity and inherent recalcitrance (Kumar et al., 2020; Lorenci Woiciechowski et al., 2020; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019). After treating the feedstock with various NaOH concentrations, the yields of GR, HEG, XR, and HEX significantly

increased for each treated biomass based on the NaOH concentration. NaOH pretreatment improves the enzymatic hydrolysis yield of this biomass by breaking down the *V. pusilla* feedstock's complex structure, removing lignin and a portion of the hemicellulose that functions as a physical obstacle during hydrolysis, making carbohydrates more accessible to enzymes (Kumar et al., 2020; Mankar et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2022; Zoghlami & Paës, 2019).

According to the results, 2% NaOH generated the highest GR and XR yields, whereas higher NaOH concentrations resulted in lower GR and XR yields. In contrast, NaOH concentrations of 3-4% produced a higher yield of HEX but had no effect on the yield of HEG. The results indicated that increasing the NaOH concentration accelerated the dissolution of lignin, hemicellulose, and cellulose, resulting in a lower solid recovery yield. A reduction in solid recovery yield had a substantial influence on sugar recovery yield (Chinwatpaiboon et al., 2023; Manokhoon & Rangseesuriyachai, 2020; Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021; Premjet et al., 2018b).

Effect of Temperature on Biomass Composition

The results showed that the three main compositions of the treated sample changed considerably depending on the pretreatment temperature. Decreases in AIL, ASL, and total lignin contents were also significantly (p < 0.05) influenced by the temperature. However, the pretreatment temperature had distinct effects on the reduction in AIL and ASL. Therefore, subjecting the feedstock to high temperature NaOH pretreatment can disrupt the complex structure of *V. pusilla* feedstocks by eliminating both lignin and hemicellulose components (Li et al., 2023a)

Compared with the raw material, the relative glucan content increased with increasing temperatures because lignin was mostly removed at higher temperatures (Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021). However, the hydrothermal pretreatment of biomass with NaOH (1–3%) did not have a substantial impact on hemicellulose component (Sato et al., 2019), resulting in a maximum increase in the xylan content at 110 °C and reduction at 120 °C and 130 °C because of the increased degradation of hemicellulose. In addition, as the temperature increased, the recovery yields of particulates, xylan, and glucan declined drastically, whereas lignin removal was considerably enhanced. Therefore, higher temperatures accelerated the dissolution of

solid fraction, lignin, and carbohydrates (Hoşgün & Bozan, 2020; Lee et al., 2022; Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2010).

Effect of Temperature on Hydrolysis Yield

Furthermore, the yields of GR, HEG, XR, and HEX were substantially enhanced when the biomass of *V. pusilla* was treated at varying temperatures. Compared with other pretreatment temperatures, the yields of GR and XR were lowest at 130°C. However, HEG and HEX yields were highest at high temperatures, which contributed to a more severe decomposition of carbohydrates, resulting in a decline in enzymatic saccharification yields of glucose, xylose, and reducing sugar (Chinwatpaiboon et al., 2023; Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021). The highest amounts of GR and an average quantity of XR were obtained at 120°C. In addition, glucose had a higher recovery yield than xylose, indicating that glucose is the key product of the saccharification process and xylose is a byproduct.

The results demonstrate that both the concentration of NaOH and temperature used in the present study had a substantial effect on the alteration of all three major chemical constituents of the V. pusilla feedstock. Although the highest amount of HEG and HEX were obtained when the samples were pretreated with 4% NaOH at 120 °C and 2% NaOH at 130 °C, these may not be the optimal pretreatment conditions for V. pusilla biomass. The optimal pretreatment conditions for such biomass should generate the highest potential GR yields, which are directly proportional to the initial glucan content of the biomass. (Wongleang et al., 2023b; Yoo et al., 2017). Therefore, the optimal pretreatment of *V. pusilla* biomass in this study was 2% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 minutes, which produced the highest amount of GR. At this condition, $50.5 \pm$ 0.1% of the lignin was removed, indicating that complete lignin elimination may not be necessary. Compared with the untreated feedstock, 2% NaOH treatment to V. pusilla biomass increased GR and XR yields by approximately 3.7 and 2.4 folds, respectively. Meanwhile, HEG and HEX outcomes improved by approximately 4.6 and 3.7 folds, respectively. Moreover, the GR yield of this experiment (42.4%) was slightly greater than that of a V. pusilla sample treated with H₃PO₄ (40.8%) (Wongleang et al., 2023b).

Effect of Pretreatment on Crystalline Structure

NaOH pretreatment not only effectively solubilized lignin and partial hemicellulose from the lignin carbohydrate complex but also altered the crystallinity, porosity, and surface area of cellulose in the treated sample (Kim et al., 2016b; Lorenci Woiciechowski et al., 2020; Mankar et al., 2021), which was also demonstrated in the present study. All treated and untreated samples maintained XRD patterns that were acceptable with cellulose I crystallinity. This implies that modifying the concentration of NaOH and temperature during the sample pretreatment did not transform cellulose I into cellulose II but increased the relative CrI of the treated materials. NaOH-aided thermal pretreatment at 75 °C to 125 °C (Zhao et al., 2022) diminishing amorphous components (glucan, xylan, arabinan, and lignin), enhancing the proportion of relative crystalline cellulose in pretreated solids, leading to a greater CrI value (Ahmed et al., 2017; Chinwatpaiboon et al., 2023; Debiagi et al., 2020; Kontogianni et al., 2019; Li et al., 2023a; Phitsuwan et al., 2016; Tsegaye et al., 2019b; Yan et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2023).

Compared with the raw materials, the GR, HEG, XR, and HEX yields of each pretreatment condition were enhanced, which clearly indicates an increase in the relative CrI value but did not affect the enhanced enzymatic hydrolysis yield. NaOH pretreatment resulted in the removal of primarily amorphous components, coupled with considerable swelling and alteration within the crystalline sections of the cellulose in the treated samples. These modifications improved enzymatic hydrolysis yields by rendering the cellulose surface readily available to enzymes (Shahabazuddin et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2016). The effect have been observed in various alkaline pretreatments, including wheat straw (Kontogianni et al., 2019), *Chloris barbata* (Obeng et al., 2019), *Durio zibethinus* (Obeng et al., 2021), poplar (Li et al., 2023a), and sugarcane bagasse (Zhang et al., 2023).

Effect of Pretreatment on Morphological Structure

As the original lignocellulosic feedstock has a complicated and stubborn structure, it is not readily biodegradable (Mankar et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2022). The findings suggest that changes in the surface morphology of the *V. pusilla* feedstock were significantly influenced by the NaOH concentrations and temperature employed

during the pretreatment. These modifications resulted from the NaOH pretreatment and temperature dependent breaking the bonds between the lignin-polysaccharide matrix, resulting in the solubilization of hemicellulose and lignin along with an increase in the porosity and surface area of cellulose (Mardawati et al., 2022; Obeng et al., 2019; Obeng et al., 2021; Thamsee et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2023). Notably, adaptations enhance the efficiency of enzymatic hydrolysis by facilitating the accessibility of carbohydrates to the treated samples (Huang et al., 2017; Manokhoon & Rangseesuriyachai, 2020; Thamsee et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2021)

Ethanol Fermentation

Bioethanol can be produced from lignocellulose by fermentation of either hexose or pentose sugars, depending on the microorganism strain. The inability of S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 to convert sugar from pentose to ethanol is a limiting factor in the generation of biofuels from biomass (Broda et al., 2022). In contrast with the standard medium, non-detoxified BH medium significantly affected yeast cell proliferation. Therefore, the BH medium might be contaminated with inhibitory compounds, such as phenolic compounds and aliphatic acid, which were generated during the alkaline pretreatment of the raw material preparation (Ladeira-Ázar et al., 2019; Li et al., 2023a; Łukajtis et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2012). These inhibitors suppressed S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 growths but have no impact on bioethanol production (Lee et al., 2022; Nandal et al., 2020; Premjet et al., 2018b; Toor et al., 2020; Wongleang et al., 2023b). In the present study, the fermentation medium contained both glucose and xylose. When the amount of glucose is inadequate, xylose was consumed as a carbon source, resulting in a decrease in xylose (Patiño et al., 2019; Vargas et al., 2023). Cellulosic ethanol was successfully produced utilizing S. cerevisiae TISTR 5339 in a non-detoxified BH medium derived from enzymatic saccharification. The maximal ethanol yield of the BH medium $89.6 \pm 0.1\%$ or $9.4 \pm$ 0.0 g/L and the standard medium 91.8 \pm 1.6% or 9.7 \pm 0.2 g/L did not differ significantly.

Interestingly, the liquid hydrolysate, a byproduct of ethanol production, still contained a substantial quantity of xylose (7.1 ± 0.5 g/L), indicating the potential use of xylose as a substrate to produce other useful substances, such as xylitol.

Xylitol Production

A sustainable and cost-effective bioconversion process is essential for the successful implementation of biorefineries (Zininga et al., 2023). Therefore, xylose in the liquid hydrolysate was used as substrates for xylitol production using *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171.

Notably, the NaOH pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials leads to delignification, resulting in the production of lignin derivatives, particularly phenolic compounds, and aliphatic acids (Ladeira-Ázar et al., 2019; Li et al., 2023a; Łukajtis et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2012). These chemical compounds effectively inhibit yeast cell proliferation and resulted in decreased xylitol production (Bianchini et al., 2023; Vardhan et al., 2023; Zhang et al., 2012). The potential impact of inhibitory compounds may not be identifiable in our study because C. tropicalis TISTR 5171 grew better in the XBH medium than in the XC medium. According to the findings, both the XC and XBH media were successful in producing xylitol levels higher than 50%. Nevertheless, the xylitol yield of XC medium was slightly higher than that of XBH medium. Nonetheless, the entirety of xylose presents in both XC and XBH media was completely used. This could be attributed to the fact that the yeast cells metabolized most of the xylose in the medium, leading to an inadequate amount of xylose for xylitol production. In addition, some studies have found that xylitol output and productivity rates are constrained by low xylose concentrations (Jin et al., 2023; Misra et al., 2013; Vardhan et al., 2023).

Material Balance

Material balance calculations were conducted under the optimal NaOHcatalyzed steam pretreatment conditions to generate fermentable sugars from *V. pusilla* biomass (Figure 26). The overall process and distribution of the main components of *V. pusilla* also evaluated. The main components of the raw material were glucan, xylan, arabinan, and total lignin. After pretreatment with 2% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 minutes, the mass balance indicated approximately 57.9% recovery of the pretreated material comprising 38.9% glucan, 12.3% xylan, and 13.8% total lignin. To evaluate the influence of pretreatment on enzymatic hydrolysis, untreated and pretreated samples were treated with cellulase, β -glucosidase, and xylanase. The results indicate a significant (p < 0.05) enhancement in GR, HEG, XR, and HEX yields in the pretreated biomass. After 96 hours of hydrolysis, the pretreated biomass had an HEG of 88.4% (GR = 424 g) and HEX of 74.1% (XR = 118 g). In contrast, the untreated sample displayed a HEG of 19.4% (GR = 115 g) and HEX of 20.1% (GR = 50 g). The yields of GR and XR were increased by approximately 3.7 and 2.4 times, respectively, compared with those of the raw material. Furthermore, there was an enhancement of around 4.6 and 3.7 times in the yields of HEG and HEX, respectively.

Subsequently, the BH obtained through enzymatic hydrolysis was used as a carbon source for bioethanol production by *S. cerevisiae* TISTR 5339. The results indicating a higher bioethanol yield from the pretreated biomass (194.1 g) than that from the untreated sample (52.7 g) provide evidence for the improvements through pretreatment and demonstrate the potential of non-detoxified BH as a carbon source for cellulosic ethanol production. Following the ethanol production, the liquid hydrolysate, which consisted of xylose, was used as a carbon substrate for the xylitol biosynthesis by *C. tropicalis* TISTR 5171. Notably, the xylitol output from the processed biomass (39.8 g) was roughly 2.4 times higher than the untreated sample (16.9 g).

Overall, we have demonstrated that the glucose and xylose in the BH and XBH medium, without any other detoxification processes, could be utilized as sustainable six and five-carbon sources for producing bioethanol and xylitol from *V. pusilla* feedstock, respectively. The results of this study provide vital details for the thermal pretreatment of *V. pusilla* biomass with NaOH, which is necessary for the complete utilization of six and five-carbon sugars from weed biomass to produce two value-added products (bioethanol and xylitol). To optimize the recovery of solids, enhance the hydrolysis efficiency of glucose and xylose, and improve the recovery yields of both sugars, the influence of various pretreatment parameters, including the temperature, NaOH degrees, and period, should employing a response surface methodology experimental design. However, bioethanol production can be improved by utilizing yeast strains tolerant to inhibitory or by eliminating inhibitors from the

BH before employed it in ethanol fermentation. In addition, microorganisms can become more tolerant of high ethanol concentrations through strain modifications.

To improve xylitol conversion yields, selecting microbial strains or genetically modified microorganisms that convert xylose to xylitol with greater efficacy than natural microbial strains is crucial. Additionally, the xylitol production medium needs to be optimized. The implementation of this approach is expected to optimize the efficiency of the cellulosic ethanol and xylitol production using plant-based biomass. The results highlight the potential of this simple process for producing bioethanol and xylitol, promoting the sustainable utilization of *V. pusilla* biomass, and supporting the development of a circular bioeconomy.





Figure 26 Material balance of *V. pusilla* biomass utilized in the fermentation of bioethanol and xylitol

Conclusions

In the current study, an autoclave was employed to perform thermal pretreatment of *V. pusilla* biomass at varying concentrations of NaOH and temperature. The synergistic action of temperatures and NaOH resulted in the breakdown of the stiff structure of V. pusilla biomass, resulting in delignification, an increase in cellulose porosity and surface area, and enhanced enzymatic hydrolysis yields. V. pusilla feedstock was efficiently pretreated with 2% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 minutes. Under these circumstances, the most excellent yields of glucose recovery ($42.4 \pm 0.0\%$) and glucose hydrolysis efficiency ($88.4 \pm 0.0\%$) were achieved. However, delignification was only $50.5 \pm 0.1\%$, indicating that complete lignin removal is not mandatory. In addition, glucose and xylose in the BH and XBH media, respectively, could potentially be utilized as renewable hexose and pentose carbon sources to generate bioethanol and xylitol from V. pusilla feedstock without any additional detoxification operations. The yields of bioethanol (194.1 g) and xylitol (39.8 g) were considerably higher than those obtained from untreated biomass. Therefore, V. pusilla biomass has a great potential for application in a sugar platform-based biorefinery for the production of bioethanol, xylitol, or other high-value products. Nevertheless, to optimize the recovery yields of solids, glucan, xylan, hydrolysis efficiency, and the products of glucose and xylose recoveries, the pretreatment variables temperature, NaOH concentration, and duration were evaluated using statistical techniques such as RSM. Enhancing xylitol output requires improving the microbial strains used to convert xylose more efficiently into xylitol. Optimizations of the medium utilized for xylitol synthesis is also recommended.

CHAPTER V

OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

Cellulosic ethanol production is considered a promising alternative renewable feedstock for achieving sustainable development goals. Both pretreatment methods, 75% H₃PO₄ and 2% NaOH at 120 °C for 60 minutes, have shown significant improvements in sugar recovery and hydrolysis efficiency yields. Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass is a crucial step towards bioethanol production, leading to an increase in ethanol yield. Furthermore, a byproduct of ethanol production, still contained a substantial quantity of xylose, indicating the potential use of xylose as a substrate to produce xylitol.

Overall, these studies highlight the potential of *V. pusilla* biomass in sugar platform-based biorefineries for the production of biofuels and other valuable compounds.

REFERENCES



- Aggarwal, N.K., Kumar, N., Mittal, M. 2022. Bioethanol production: Past and present.in: *Bioethanol Production: Past and Present*, (Eds.) N.K. Aggarwal, N. Kumar,M. Mittal, Springer International Publishing. Cham, pp. 65-71.
- Ahmed, M.A., Rehman, M.S.U., Terán-Hilares, R., Khalid, S., Han, J.-I. 2017. Optimization of twin gear-based pretreatment of rice straw for bioethanol production. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 141, 120-125.
- An, H.-E., Lee, K.H., Jang, Y.W., Kim, C.-B., Yoo, H.Y. 2021. Improved glucose recovery from *Sicyos angulatus* by NaOH pretreatment and application to bioethanol production. *Processes*, 9(2), 245.
- Arisht, S.N., Abdul, P.M., Liu, C.-M., Lin, S.-K., Maaroff, R.M., Wu, S.-Y., Jahim, J.M.
 2019. Biotoxicity assessment and lignocellulosic structural changes of phosphoric acid pre-treated young coconut husk hydrolysate for biohydrogen production. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, 44(12), 5830-5843.
- Arora, A., Nandal, P., Singh, J., Verma, M.L. 2020. Nanobiotechnological advancements in lignocellulosic biomass pretreatment. *Materials Science for Energy Technologies*, 3, 308-318.
- Ashoor, S., Sukumaran, R.K. 2020. Mild alkaline pretreatment can achieve high hydrolytic and fermentation efficiencies for rice straw conversion to bioethanol. *Preparative Biochemistry & Biotechnology*, **50**(8), 814-819.
- Asomaning, J., Haupt, S., Chae, M., Bressler, D.C. 2018. Recent developments in microwave-assisted thermal conversion of biomass for fuels and chemicals. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **92**, 642-657.
- Ayodele, B.V., Alsaffar, M.A., Mustapa, S.I. 2019. An overview of integration opportunities for sustainable bioethanol production from first- and secondgeneration sugar-based feedstocks. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 245, 118857.
- Ayodele, B.V., Alsaffar, M.A., Mustapa, S.I. 2020. An overview of integration opportunities for sustainable bioethanol production from first- and secondgeneration sugar-based feedstocks. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 245, 118857.

- Baêta, B.E.L., Cordeiro, P.H.d.M., Passos, F., Gurgel, L.V.A., de Aquino, S.F., Fdz-Polanco, F. 2017. Steam explosion pretreatment improved the biomethanization of coffee husks. *Bioresource Technology*, 245, 66-72.
- Bhatia, Shashi Kant Jagtap, Sadashiv, S., Bedekar, A.A., Bhatia, R.K., Patel, A.K., Pant,
 D., Rajesh Banu, J., Rao, C.V., Kim, Y.-G., Yang, Y.-H. 2020. Recent developments in pretreatment technologies on lignocellulosic biomass: Effect of key parameters, technological improvements, and challenges. *Bioresource Technology*, **300**, 122724.
- Bianchini, I.d.A., Jofre, F.M., Queiroz, S.d.S., Lacerda, T.M., Felipe, M.d.G.d.A. 2023. Relation of xylitol formation and lignocellulose degradation in yeast. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*.
- Bonfiglio, F., Cagno, M., Yamakawa, C.K., Mussatto, S.I. 2021. Production of xylitol and carotenoids from switchgrass and *Eucalyptus globulus* hydrolysates obtained by intensified steam explosion pretreatment. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **170**, 113800.
- Broda, M., Yelle, D.J., Serwańska, K. 2022. Bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass challenges and solutions. in: *Molecules*, Vol. 27.
- Bušić, A., Marđetko, N., Kundas, S., Morzak, G., Belskaya, H., Ivančić Šantek, M., Komes, D., Novak, S., Šantek, B. 2018. Bioethanol production from renewable raw materials and its separation and purification: A review. *Food technology and biotechnology*, 56(3), 289-311.
- Casau, M., Dias, M.F., Matias, J.C.O., Nunes, L.J.R. 2022. Residual biomass: A comprehensive review on the importance, uses and potential in a circular bioeconomy approach. *Resources*, **11**(4), 35.
- Chandel, A.K., Garlapati, V.K., Singh, A.K., Antunes, F.A.F., da Silva, S.S. 2018. The path forward for lignocellulose biorefineries: Bottlenecks, solutions, and perspective on commercialization. *Bioresource Technology*, **264**, 370-381.
- Chandel, A.K., Singh, O.V. 2011. Weedy lignocellulosic feedstock and microbial metabolic engineering: advancing the generation of 'Biofuel'. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, **89**(5), 1289-1303.

- Chen, J., Zhang, B., Luo, L., Zhang, F., Yi, Y., Shan, Y., Liu, B., Zhou, Y., Wang, X., Lü, X. 2021. A review on recycling techniques for bioethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 149, 111370.
- Chen, Z., Wang, Y., Cheng, H., Zhou, H. 2022. Hemicellulose degradation: An overlooked issue in acidic deep eutectic solvents pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **187**, 115335.
- Chinwatpaiboon, P., Savarajara, A., Luengnaruemitchai, A. 2023. Enzymatic hydrolysate of water hyacinth with NaOH pretreatment for biobutanol production via ABE fermentation by *Clostridium beijerinckii* JCM 8026. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **173**, 106782.
- Chu, G., Zhao, J., Huang, Y., Zhou, D., Liu, Y., Wu, M., Peng, H., Zhao, Q., Pan, B., Steinberg, C.E.W. 2018. Phosphoric acid pretreatment enhances the specific surface areas of biochars by generation of micropores. *Environmental Pollution*, 240, 1-9.
- Chundawat, S.P.S., Bellesia, G., Uppugundla, N., da Costa Sousa, L., Gao, D., Cheh, A.M., Agarwal, U.P., Bianchetti, C.M., Phillips, G.N., Jr., Langan, P., Balan, V., Gnanakaran, S., Dale, B.E. 2011. Restructuring the crystalline cellulose hydrogen bond network enhances its depolymerization rate. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, **133**(29), 11163-11174.
- Debiagi, F., Madeira, T.B., Nixdorf, S.L., Mali, S. 2020. Pretreatment efficiency using autoclave high-pressure steam and ultrasonication in sugar production from liquid hydrolysates and access to the residual solid fractions of wheat bran and oat hulls. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **190**(1), 166-181.
- El Hage, M., Rajha, H.N., Maache-Rezzoug, Z., Koubaa, M., Louka, N. 2022. Intensification of bioethanol production from different lignocellulosic biomasses, induced by various pretreatment methods: An updated review. *Energies*, 15(19), 6912.
- Ethaib, S., Omar, R., Siti Mazlina, M.K., Dayang Radiah, A.B., Zuwaini, M. 2020. Evaluation solvent level effect on sugar yield during microwave-assisted pretreatment. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 871(1), 012034.

- ETIP, B., Concepts. 2017. European Technology and Innovation Platform Bioenergy: Gülzow, Germany.
- Fernández-Delgado, M., Plaza, P.E., Coca, M., García-Cubero, M.T., González-Benito, G., Lucas, S. 2019. Comparison of mild alkaline and oxidative pretreatment methods for biobutanol production from brewer's spent grains. *Industrial Crops* and Products, 130, 409-419.
- Fortunati, E., Benincasa, P., Balestra, G.M., Luzi, F., Mazzaglia, A., Del Buono, D., Puglia, D., Torre, L. 2016. Revalorization of barley straw and husk as precursors for cellulose nanocrystals extraction and their effect on PVA_CH nanocomposites. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 92, 201-217.
- Galbe, M., Wallberg, O. 2019. Pretreatment for biorefineries: A review of common methods for efficient utilisation of lignocellulosic materials. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 12(1), 294.
- Gourlay, K., Arantes, V., Saddler, J.N. 2012. Use of substructure-specific carbohydrate binding modules to track changes in cellulose accessibility and surface morphology during the amorphogenesis step of enzymatic hydrolysis. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, **5**(1), 51.
- Guerrero, A.B., Ballesteros, I., Ballesteros, M. 2017. Optimal conditions of acidcatalysed steam explosion pretreatment of banana lignocellulosic biomass for fermentable sugar production. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, **92**(9), 2351-2359.
- Haldar, D., Purkait, M.K. 2022. Thermochemical pretreatment enhanced bioconversion of elephant grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*): insight on the production of sugars and lignin. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, **12**(4), 1125-1138.
- Hall, M., Bansal, P., Lee, J.H., Realff, M.J., Bommarius, A.S. 2010. Cellulose crystallinity – a key predictor of the enzymatic hydrolysis rate. *The FEBS Journal*, 277(6), 1571-1582.
- Hames, B., Ruiz, R., Scarlata, C., Sluiter, A., Sluiter, J., Templeton, D. 2008. Preparation of Samples for Compositional Analysis Technical Report NREL/TP-510-42620, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL).
- Hassan, S.S., Williams, G.A., Jaiswal, A.K. 2018. Emerging technologies for the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresour Technol*, **262**, 310-318.

- Hoşgün, E.Z., Bozan, B. 2020. Effect of different types of thermochemical pretreatment on the enzymatic hydrolysis and the composition of hazelnut shells. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, **11**(7), 3739-3748.
- Hossain, A., Rahaman, M.S., Lee, D., Phung, T.K., Canlas, C.G., Simmons, B.A., Renneckar, S., Reynolds, W., George, A., Tulaphol, S., Sathitsuksanoh, N. 2020.
 Enhanced softwood cellulose accessibility by H₃PO₄ pretreatment: High sugar yield without compromising lignin integrity. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, **59**(2), 1010-1024.
- Hu, Z., Pu, G., Fang, F., Wang, C. 2004. Economics, environment, and energy life cycle assessment of automobiles fueled by bio-ethanol blends in China. *Renewable Energy*, 29(14), 2183-2192.
- Huang, W., Wang, E., Chang, J., Wang, P., Yin, Q., Liu, C., Zhu, Q., Lu, F. 2017. Effect of physicochemical pretreatments and enzymatic hydrolysis on corn straw degradation and reducing sugar yield. *bioresources*, 12(4), 14.
- Jeevan Kumar, S.P., Sampath Kumar, N.S., Chintagunta, A.D. 2020. Bioethanol production from cereal crops and lignocelluloses rich agro-residues: prospects and challenges. *SN Applied Sciences*, **2**(10), 1673.
- Ji, Z., Zhang, X., Ling, Z., Zhou, X., Ramaswamy, S., Xu, F. 2015. Visualization of *Miscanthus* × giganteus cell wall deconstruction subjected to dilute acid pretreatment for enhanced enzymatic digestibility. *Biotechnol Biofuels*, 8, 103.
- Jin, T., Xing, X., Xie, Y., Sun, Y., Bian, S., Liu, L., Chen, G., Wang, X., Yu, X., Su, Y. 2023. Evaluation of preparation and detoxification of hemicellulose hydrolysate for improved xylitol production from quinoa straw. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 24(1), 516.
- Jin, Y., Liu, J., Yang, H., Shi, Z., Zhao, P., Yang, J. 2021. Improving enzymatic saccharification and ethanol production of bamboo residues with sulfomethylation-aided phosphoric acid pretreatment. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **170**, 113733.
- Jung, W., Savithri, D., Sharma-Shivappa, R., Kolar, P. 2020. Effect of sodium hydroxide pretreatment on lignin monomeric components of *Miscanthus* × giganteus and enzymatic hydrolysis. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, **11**(11), 5891-5900.

- Karimi, K., Taherzadeh, M.J. 2016. A critical review of analytical methods in pretreatment of lignocelluloses: Composition, imaging, and crystallinity. *Bioresource Technology*, 200, 1008-1018.
- Khan, A.S., Man, Z., Bustam, M.A., Nasrullah, A., Ullah, Z., Sarwono, A., Shah, F.U., Muhammad, N. 2018. Efficient conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to levulinic acid using acidic ionic liquids. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 181, 208-214.
- Khan, M.A.H., Bonifacio, S., Clowes, J., Foulds, A., Holland, R., Matthews, J.C., Percival, C.J., Shallcross, D.E. 2021. Investigation of biofuel as a potential renewable energy source. *Atmosphere*, **12**(10), 1289.
- Kim, H., Ahn, Y., Kwak, S.-Y. 2016a. Comparing the influence of acetate and chloride anions on the structure of ionic liquid pretreated lignocellulosic biomass. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 93, 243-253.
- Kim, J.S., Lee, Y.Y., Kim, T.H. 2016b. A review on alkaline pretreatment technology for bioconversion of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresource Technology*, 199, 42-48.
- Kontogianni, N., Barampouti, E.M., Mai, S., Malamis, D., Loizidou, M. 2019. Effect of alkaline pretreatments on the enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, **26**(35), 35648-35656.
- Kucharska, K., Rybarczyk, P., Hołowacz, I., Łukajtis, R., Glinka, M., Kamiński, M. 2018. Pretreatment of lignocellulosic materials as substrates for fermentation processes. *Molecules*, 23(11), 2937.
- Kumar, A.K., Sharma, S. 2017. Recent updates on different methods of pretreatment of lignocellulosic feedstocks: a review. *Bioresources and Bioprocessing*, **4**(1), 7.
- Kumar, B., Bhardwaj, N., Agrawal, K., Chaturvedi, V., Verma, P. 2020. Current perspective on pretreatment technologies using lignocellulosic biomass: An emerging biorefinery concept. *Fuel Processing Technology*, **199**, 106244.
- Kumar, N., Yadav, A., Singh, G., Singh, A., Kumar, P., Aggarwal, N.K. 2023. Comparative study of ethanol production from sodium hydroxide pretreated rice straw residue using *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Zymomonas mobilis*. *Archives of Microbiology*, **205**(4), 146.

- Kumar, S., Kothari, U., Kong, L., Lee, Y.Y., Gupta, R.B. 2011. Hydrothermal pretreatment of switchgrass and corn stover for production of ethanol and carbon microspheres. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **35**(2), 956-968.
- Ladeira-Azar, R.I.S., Morgan, T., Maitan-Alfenas, G.P., Guimarães, V.M. 2019. Inhibitors compounds on sugarcane bagasse saccharification: Effects of pretreatment methods and alternatives to decrease inhibition. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, **188**(1), 29-42.
- Lee, J., Kim, S., Lee, K.H., Lee, S.K., Chun, Y., Kim, S.W., Park, C., Yoo, H.Y. 2022. Improvement of bioethanol production from waste chestnut shells via evaluation of mass balance-based pretreatment and glucose recovery process. *Environmental Technology & Innovation*, 28, 102955.
- Li, C., Fan, M., Xie, J., Zhang, H. 2023a. Effect of NaOH-catalyzed organosolv pretreatment on the co-production of ethanol and xylose from poplar. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **200**, 116774.
- Li, M., Xu, F., Zhao, Y., Sun, D., Liu, J., Yin, X., Li, Z., Zhao, J., Li, H., Bao, X. 2023b.
 High-efficient production of cellulosic ethanol from corn fiber based on the suitable C5/C6 co-fermentation *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain. in: *Fermentation*, Vol. 9.
- Li, X., Sun, C., Zhou, B., He, Y. 2015. Determination of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin in moso bamboo by near infrared spectroscopy. *Scientific Reports*, 5(1), 17210.
- Li, Y.-C., Gou, Z.-X., Zhang, Y., Xia, Z.-Y., Tang, Y.-Q., Kida, K. 2017. Inhibitor tolerance of a recombinant flocculating industrial *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain during glucose and xylose co-fermentation. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, **48**(4), 791-800.
- Ling, Z., Tang, W., Su, Y., Huang, C., Lai, C., Kirui, A., Wang, T., French, A.D., Yong,
 Q. 2022. Stepwise allomorphic transformations by alkaline and ethylenediamine treatments on bamboo crystalline cellulose for enhanced enzymatic digestibility. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 177, 114450.
- Liu, J., Gong, Z., Yang, G., Chen, L., Huang, L., Zhou, Y., Luo, X. 2018. Novel kinetic models of xylan dissolution and degradation during ethanol based autocatalyzed organosolv pretreatment of bamboo. *Polymers (Basel)*, **10**(10).

- Lorenci Woiciechowski, A., Dalmas Neto, C.J., Porto de Souza Vandenberghe, L., de Carvalho Neto, D.P., Novak Sydney, A.C., Letti, L.A.J., Karp, S.G., Zevallos Torres, L.A., Soccol, C.R. 2020. Lignocellulosic biomass: Acid and alkaline pretreatments and their effects on biomass recalcitrance – Conventional processing and recent advances. *Bioresource Technology*, **304**, 122848.
- Louis, A.C.F., Venkatachalam, S. 2020. Energy efficient process for valorization of corn cob as a source for nanocrystalline cellulose and hemicellulose production. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, **163**, 260-269.
- Łukajtis, R., Rybarczyk, P., Kucharska, K., Konopacka-Łyskawa, D., Słupek, E., Wychodnik, K., Kamiński, M. 2018. Optimization of saccharification conditions of lignocellulosic biomass under alkaline pre-treatment and enzymatic hydrolysis. *Energies*, **11**(4), 886.
- Luo, Y., Li, D., Chen, Y., Sun, X., Cao, Q., Liu, X. 2019. The performance of phosphoric acid in the preparation of activated carbon-containing phosphorus species from rice husk residue. *Journal of Materials Science*, 54(6), 5008-5021.
- Mafa, M.S., Malgas, S., Bhattacharya, A., Rashamuse, K., Pletschke, B.I. 2020. The effects of alkaline pretreatment on agricultural biomasses (corn cob and sweet sorghum bagasse) and their hydrolysis by a termite-derived enzyme cocktail. *Agronomy*, **10**(8), 1211.
- Mahmood, H., Moniruzzaman, M., Iqbal, T., Khan, M.J. 2019. Recent advances in the pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for biofuels and value-added products. *Current Opinion in Green and Sustainable Chemistry*, 20, 18-24.
- Mankar, A.R., Pandey, A., Modak, A., Pant, K.K. 2021. Pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass: A review on recent advances. *Bioresour Technol*, 334, 125235.
- Manokhoon, P., Rangseesuriyachai, T. 2020. Effect of two-stage sodium hydroxide pretreatment on the composition and structure of Napier grass (Pakchong 1) (*Pennisetum purpureum*). *International Journal of Green Energy*, **17**(13), 864-871.
- Mardawati, E., Hartono, A.T., Nurhadi, B., Fitriana, H.N., Hermiati, E., Ermawar, R.A. 2022. Xylitol production from pineapple cores (*Ananas comosus* (L.) Merr) by enzymatic and acid hydrolysis using microorganisms *Debaryomyces hansenii* and *Candida tropicalis*. Fermentation, 8(12), 694.
- Martino, D.C., Colodette, J.L., Chandra, R., Saddler, J. 2017. Steam explosion pretreatment used to remove hemicellulose to enhance the production of a eucalyptus organosolv dissolving pulp. *Wood Science and Technology*, **51**(3), 557-569.
- Melesse, G.T., Hone, F.G., Mekonnen, M.A. 2022. Extraction of cellulose from sugarcane bagasse optimization and characterization. *Advances in Materials Science and Engineering*, 2022, 1712207.
- Messaoudi, Y., Smichi, N., Moujahed, N., Gargouri, M. 2022. Hydrothermal and chemical pretreatment process for bioethanol production from agricultural and forest lignocellulosic wastes: Design and modeling. *Chemistry Africa*.
- Misra, S., Raghuwanshi, S., Saxena, R.K. 2013. Evaluation of corncob hemicellulosic hydrolysate for xylitol production by adapted strain of *Candida tropicalis*. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 92(2), 1596-1601.
- Modenbach, A.A., Nokes, S. 2014. Effects of sodium hydroxide pretreatment on structural components of biomass. *Transactions of the ASABE*, **57**, 1187-1198.
- Mohd Sukri, S.S., Rahman, R., Illias, R., Yaakob, H. 2014. Optimization of alkaline pretreatment conditions of oil palm fronds in improving the lignocelluloses contents for reducing sugar production. *Romanian Biotechnological Letters*, **19**(1), 9006-9018.
- Moset, V., Xavier, C.d.A.N., Feng, L., Wahid, R., Møller, H.B. 2018. Combined low thermal alkali addition and mechanical pre-treatment to improve biogas yield from wheat straw. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **172**, 1391-1398.
- Moxley, G., Zhu, Z., Zhang, Y.H.P. 2008. Efficient sugar release by the cellulose solvent-based lignocellulose fractionation technology and enzymatic cellulose hydrolysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(17), 7885-7890.
- Mund, N.K., Dash, D., Barik, C.R., Goud, V.V., Sahoo, L., Mishra, P., Nayak, N.R.
 2017. Evaluation of efficient glucose release using sodium hydroxide and phosphoric acid as pretreating agents from the biomass of *Sesbania grandiflora* (L.) Pers.: A fast growing tree legume. *Bioresource Technology*, 236, 97-105.
- Nandal, P., Sharma, S., Arora, A. 2020. Bioprospecting non-conventional yeasts for ethanol production from rice straw hydrolysate and their inhibitor tolerance. *Renewable Energy*, 147, 1694-1703.

- Ngamsirisomsakul, M., Reungsang, A., Kongkeitkajorn, M.B. 2021. Assessing oleaginous yeasts for their potentials on microbial lipid production from sugarcane bagasse and the effects of physical changes on lipid production. *Bioresource Technology Reports*, **14**, 100650.
- Obeng, Abraham, Premjet, D., Premjet, S. 2018. Fermentable sugar production from the peels of two durian (Durio zibethinus Murr.) cultivars by phosphoric acid pretreatment. *Resources*, **7**(4), 60.
- Obeng, A.K., Premjet, D., Premjet, S. 2019. Combining autoclaving with mild alkaline solution as a pretreatment technique to enhance glucose recovery from the invasive weed *Chloris barbata*. *Biomolecules*, **9**(4), 120.
- Obeng, A.K., Premjet, D., Premjet, S. 2021. Improved glucose recovery from durian peel by alkaline-catalyzed steam pretreatment. *PeerJ*, **9**, e12026.
- Oki, T., Sayama, Y., Nishimura, Y., Ozaki, A. 1968. L-Glutamic acid formation by microorganisms from ethanol. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, 32(1), 119-120.
- Olatunji, K.O., Madyira, D.M., Ahmed, N.A., Ogunkunle, O. 2022. Influence of alkali pretreatment on morphological structure and methane yield of *Arachis hypogea* shells. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*.
- Pagad, S. 2016. Bamboos and invasiveness-identifying which bamboo species pose a risk to the natural environment and what can be done to reduce this risk. in: *The International Bamboo and Rattan Organization (INBAR): Beijing, China*.
- Pandey, A., Tiwari, S., Jadhav, S., Tiwari, K. 2014. Efficient microorganism for bioethanol production from lignocellulosic Azolla. *Research Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 8(6), 350.
- Papathoti, N.K., Laemchiab, K., Megavath, V.S., Keshav, P.K., Numparditsub, P., Le Thanh, T., Buensanteai, N. 2021. Augmented ethanol production from alkaliassisted hydrothermal pretreated cassava peel waste. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects*, 1-11.

- Papathoti, N.K., Mendam, K., Thepbandit, W., Burgula, N., Sangpueak, R., Saengchan, C., Hoang, N.H., Keshav, P.K., Le Thanh, T., Buensanteai, N. 2022. Bioethanol production from alkali-pretreated cassava stem waste via consolidated bioprocessing by ethanol-tolerant *Clostridium thermocellum* ATCC 31,924. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-13.
- Patel, A., Shah, A.R. 2021. Integrated lignocellulosic biorefinery: Gateway for production of second generation ethanol and value added products. *Journal of Bioresources and Bioproducts*, 6(2), 108-128.
- Patiño, M.A., Ortiz, J.P., Velásquez, M., Stambuk, B.U. 2019. d-Xylose consumption by nonrecombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: A review. *Yeast*, **36**(9), 541-556.
- Peral, C. 2016. Chapter 5 biomass pretreatment strategies (technologies, environmental performance, economic considerations, industrial implementation). in: *Biotransformation of Agricultural Waste and By-Products*, (Eds.) P. Poltronieri, O.F. D'Urso, Elsevier, pp. 125-160.
- Phitsuwan, P., Sakka, K., Ratanakhanokchai, K. 2016. Structural changes and enzymatic response of Napier grass (*Pennisetum purpureum*) stem induced by alkaline pretreatment. *Bioresource Technology*, **218**, 247-256.
- Pihlajaniemi, V., Sipponen, M.H., Liimatainen, H., Sirviö, J.A., Nyyssölä, A., Laakso, S. 2016. Weighing the factors behind enzymatic hydrolyzability of pretreated lignocellulose. *Green Chemistry*, 18(5), 1295-1305.
- Premjet, D., Wongleang, S., Premjet, S. 2022. Enhancing glucose recovery from *Hibiscus cannabinus* L. through phosphoric acid pretreatment. *Energies*, 15(20), 7573.
- Premjet, S., Dana, S., Obeng, A.K., Premjet, D. 2018a. Enzymatic response to structural and chemical transformations in *Hibiscus sabdariffa* var. altissima bark and core during phosphoric acid pretreatment. *BioRes.*, **13**(3), 6778-6789.
- Premjet, S., Doungporn, P., Yoo, H.Y., Kim, S.W. 2018b. Improvement of sugar recovery from *Sida acuta* (Thailand weed) by NaOH pretreatment and application to bioethanol production. *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, 35(12), 2413-2420.

- Premjet, S., Premjet, D., Takata, E., Tsutsumi, Y. 2016. Phosphoric acid pretreatment of Achyranthes aspera and Sida acuta weed biomass to improve enzymatic hydrolysis. Bioresour Technol, 203, 303-8.
- Premjet, S., Pumira, B., Premjet, D. 2013. Determining the potential of inedible weed biomass for bio-energy and ethanol production, Vol. 8.
- Quereshi, S., Ahmad, E., Pant, K.K.K., Dutta, S. 2019. Insights into microwave-assisted synthesis of 5-ethoxymethylfurfural and ethyl levulinate using tungsten disulfide as a catalyst. ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering, 8(4), 1721-1729.
- Rass-Hansen, J., Falsig, H., Jørgensen, B., Christensen, C.H. 2007. Bioethanol: Fuel or feedstock? *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 82(4), 329-333.
- Rumyantseva, A., Zhutyaeva, S., Lazareva, N. 2019. Promotion of investment in renewable energy projects. *E3S Web Conf.*, **91**.
- Sarmiento-Vásquez, Z., Vandenberghe, L.P.d.S., Karp, S.G., Soccol, C.R. 2022. Production of polyhydroxyalkanoates through soybean hull and waste glycerol valorization: Subsequent alkaline pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis. *Fermentation*, 8(9), 433.
- Satari, B., Karimi, K., Kumar, R. 2019. Cellulose solvent-based pretreatment for enhanced second-generation biofuel production: A review. Sustainable Energy & Fuels, 3(1), 11-62.
- Sathitsuksanoh, N., George, A., Zhang, Y.-H.P. 2013. New lignocellulose pretreatments using cellulose solvents: A review. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, 88(2), 169-180.
- Sathitsuksanoh, N., Zhu, Z., Wi, S., Percival Zhang, Y.-H. 2011. Cellulose solventbased biomass pretreatment breaks highly ordered hydrogen bonds in cellulose fibers of switchgrass. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, **108**(3), 521-529.
- Sathitsuksanoh, N., Zhu, Z., Zhang, Y.H.P. 2012. Cellulose solvent- and organic solvent-based lignocellulose fractionation enabled efficient sugar release from a variety of lignocellulosic feedstocks. *Bioresource Technology*, **117**, 228-233.
- Sato, A., Soeprijanto, S., Widjaja, A. 2019. Influence of alkaline hydrothermal pretreatment of rice straw on biomass composition. *International Energy Journal*, 19(2).

- Segal, L., Creely, J.J., Martin, A.E., Conrad, C.M. 1959. An empirical method for estimating the degree of crystallinity of native cellulose using the x-ray diffractometer. *Textile Research Journal*, 29(10), 786-794.
- Shafaei, H., Taghizadeh-Alisaraei, A., Abbaszadeh-Mayvan, A., Tatari, A. 2023. Modeling and optimization of alkaline pretreatment conditions for the production of bioethanol from giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) biomass using response surface methodology (RSM). *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*.
- Shahabazuddin, M., Sarat Chandra, T., Meena, S., Sukumaran, R.K., Shetty, N.P., Mudliar, S.N. 2018. Thermal assisted alkaline pretreatment of rice husk for enhanced biomass deconstruction and enzymatic saccharification: Physicochemical and structural characterization. *Bioresource Technology*, 263, 199-206.
- Shukla, A., Kumar, D., Girdhar, M., Kumar, A., Goyal, A., Malik, T., Mohan, A. 2023.
 Strategies of pretreatment of feedstocks for optimized bioethanol production:
 Distinct and integrated approaches. *Biotechnology for Biofuels and Bioproducts*, 16(1), 44.
- Sluiter, A., Hames, B., Ruiz, R., Scarlata, C., Sluiter, J., Templeton, D. 2008a. Determination of ash in biomass Technical Report NREL/TP-510-42622 , National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL).
- Sluiter, A., Hames, B., Ruiz, R., Scarlata, C., Sluiter, J., Templeton, D., Crocker, D. 2012. Determination of structural carbohydrates and lignin in biomass. Technical Report TP-510-42618, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL).
- Sluiter, A., Ruiz, R., Scarlata, C., Sluiter, J., Templeton, D. 2008b. Determination of extractives in biomass. Technical Report NREL/TP-510-42619, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL).
- Solieri, L., Giudici, P. 2008. Yeasts associated to traditional balsamic vinegar: Ecological and technological features. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, **125**(1), 36-45.
- Sönnichsen, N. 2023. Fuel ethanol production worldwide in 2022, by country, Statista.

- Straathof, A.J.J., Wahl, S.A., Benjamin, K.R., Takors, R., Wierckx, N., Noorman, H.J. 2019. Grand research challenges for sustainable industrial biotechnology. *Trends in Biotechnology*, **37**(10), 1042-1050.
- Sun, W., Li, X., Zhao, J., Qin, Y. 2022. Pretreatment strategies to enhance enzymatic hydrolysis and cellulosic ethanol production for biorefinery of corn stover. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(21), 13163.
- Thamsee, T., Choojit, S., Cheirsilp, B., Yamseangsung, R., Ruengpeerakul, T., Sangwichien, C. 2019. Combination of superheated steam explosion and alkaline autoclaving pretreatment for improvement of enzymatic digestibility of the oil palm tree residues as alternative sugar sources. *Waste and Biomass Valorization*, **10**(10), 3009-3023.
- Thuy, V.T., Huyen, N.T., Tu, L.H., Loi, N.K. 2021. Status of bamboos in Binh Duong province, Vietnam: Distribution, species diversity, conservation and utilization. *Trees, Forests and People*, 6, 100137.
- Toor, M., Kumar, S.S., Malyan, S.K., Bishnoi, N.R., Mathimani, T., Rajendran, K., Pugazhendhi, A. 2020. An overview on bioethanol production from lignocellulosic feedstocks. *Chemosphere*, 242, 125080.
- Tsegaye, B., Balomajumder, C., Roy, P. 2019a. Alkali pretreatment of wheat straw followed by microbial hydrolysis for bioethanol production. *Environmental Technology*, **40**(9), 1203-1211.
- Tsegaye, B., Balomajumder, C., Roy, P. 2019b. Optimization of microwave and NaOH pretreatments of wheat straw for enhancing biofuel yield. *Energy Conversion* and Management, 186, 82-92.
- Tusher, T.R., Chang, J.-J., Saunivalu, M.I., Wakasa, S., Li, W.-H., Huang, C.-C., Inoue, C., Chien, M.-F. 2022. Second-generation bioethanol production from phytomass after phytoremediation using recombinant bacteria-yeast co-culture. *Fuel*, **326**, 124975.
- Vanitjinda, G., Nimchua, T., Sukyai, P. 2019. Effect of xylanase-assisted pretreatment on the properties of cellulose and regenerated cellulose films from sugarcane bagasse. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, **122**, 503-516.

- Vardhan, H., Sasamal, S., Mohanty, K. 2023. Xylitol production by Candida tropicalis from Areca Nut Husk Enzymatic Hydrolysate and Crystallization. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology.
- Vargas, A.C.G., Dresch, A.P., Schmidt, A.R., Tadioto, V., Giehl, A., Fogolari, O., Mibielli, G.M., Alves, S.L., Bender, J.P. 2023. Batch fermentation of lignocellulosic Elephant grass biomass for 2g ethanol and xylitol production. *BioEnergy Research*, 16(4), 2219-2228.
- Venkata Mohan, S., Modestra, J.A., Amulya, K., Butti, S.K., Velvizhi, G. 2016. A Circular Bioeconomy with Biobased Products from CO₂ Sequestration. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 34(6), 506-519.
- Wang, Q., Shen, F., Yang, G., Zhang, Y., Deng, S., Hu, Y., Zhang, J., Song, C., Zeng, Y.
 2016. Pretreating luffa sponge (*Luffa cylindrica* L.) with concentrated phosphoric acid and subsequent enzymatic saccharification. 2016, 11(1), 14.
- Wang, S., Li, F., Zhang, P., Jin, S., Tao, X., Tang, X., Ye, J., Nabi, M., Wang, H. 2017.
 Ultrasound assisted alkaline pretreatment to enhance enzymatic saccharification of grass clipping. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 149, 409-415.
- Wang, W., Wang, X., Zhang, Y., Yu, Q., Tan, X., Zhuang, X., Yuan, Z. 2020. Effect of sodium hydroxide pretreatment on physicochemical changes and enzymatic hydrolysis of herbaceous and woody lignocelluloses. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 145, 112145.
- Wang, Y., Gong, X., Hu, X., Zhou, N. 2019. Lignin monomer in steam explosion assist chemical treated cotton stalk affects sugar release. *Bioresource Technology*, 276, 343-348.
- Wang, Z., Hou, X., Sun, J., Li, M., Chen, Z., Gao, Z. 2018. Comparison of ultrasoundassisted ionic liquid and alkaline pretreatment of Eucalyptus for enhancing enzymatic saccharification. *Bioresource Technology*, 254, 145-150.
- Wang, Z., Wu, S., Fan, C., Zheng, X., Zhang, W., Wu, D., Wang, X., Kong, H. 2021. Optimisation of enzymatic saccharification of wheat straw pre-treated with sodium hydroxide. *Scientific Reports*, **11**(1), 23234.

- Woiciechowski, A., Dalmas Neto, C.J., Porto de Souza Vandenberghe, L., de Carvalho Neto, D.P., Novak Sydney, A.C., Letti, L.A.J., Karp, S.G., Zevallos Torres, L.A., Soccol, C.R. 2020. Lignocellulosic biomass: Acid and alkaline pretreatments and their effects on biomass recalcitrance – Conventional processing and recent advances. *Bioresource Technology*, **304**, 122848.
- Wongleang, S., Dana, S., Premjet, D., Premjet, S. 2023a. Phosphoric acid pretreatment of *Corchorus capsularis* L. biomass for enhancing glucose recovery. *NU*. *International Journal of Science*, **20**(1), 1-13.
- Wongleang, S., Premjet, D., Premjet, S. 2023b. Cellulosic ethanol production from weed biomass hydrolysate of *Vietnamosasa pusilla*. *Polymers*, 15(5), 1103.
- Wongsiridetchai, C., Chiangkham, W., Khlaihiran, N., Sawangwan, T., Wongwathanarat, P., Charoenrat, T., Chantorn, S. 2018. Alkaline pretreatment of spent coffee grounds for oligosaccharides production by mannanase from *Bacillus* sp. GA2(1). *Agriculture and Natural Resources*, **52**(3), 222-227.
- Xu, F., Shi, Y.-C., Wang, D. 2013. X-ray scattering studies of lignocellulosic biomass: A review. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, **94**(2), 904-917.
- Xu, H., Li, B., Mu, X. 2016. Review of alkali-based pretreatment to enhance enzymatic saccharification for lignocellulosic biomass conversion. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 55(32), 8691-8705.
- Xu, J., Cheng, J.J., Sharma-Shivappa, R.R., Burns, J.C. 2010. Sodium hydroxide pretreatment of switchgrass for ethanol production. *Energy & Fuels*, 24(3), 2113-2119.
- Yan, X., Cheng, J.-R., Wang, Y.-T., Zhu, M.-J. 2020. Enhanced lignin removal and enzymolysis efficiency of grass waste by hydrogen peroxide synergized dilute alkali pretreatment. *Bioresource Technology*, **301**, 122756.
- Yoo, C.G., Meng, X., Pu, Y., Ragauskas, A.J. 2020. The critical role of lignin in lignocellulosic biomass conversion and recent pretreatment strategies: A comprehensive review. *Bioresource Technology*, **301**, 122784.
- Yoo, H.Y., Lee, J.H., Kim, D.S., Lee, J.H., Lee, S.K., Lee, S.J., Park, C., Kim, S.W. 2017. Enhancement of glucose yield from canola agricultural residue by alkali pretreatment based on multi-regression models. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, **51**, 303-311.

- Yoon, S.-Y., Kim, B.-R., Han, S.-H., Shin, S.-J. 2015. Different response between woody core and bark of goat willow (*Salix caprea* L.) to concentrated phosphoric acid pretreatment followed by enzymatic saccharification. *Energy*, 81, 21-26.
- Yu, J., Paterson, N., Blamey, J., Millan, M. 2017. Cellulose, xylan and lignin interactions during pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. *Fuel*, **191**, 140-149.
- Yuan, Y., Jiang, B., Chen, H., Wu, W., Wu, S., Jin, Y., Xiao, H. 2021. Recent advances in understanding the effects of lignin structural characteristics on enzymatic hydrolysis. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 14(1), 205.
- Zabed, H.M., Akter, S., Yun, J., Zhang, G., Awad, F.N., Qi, X., Sahu, J.N. 2019. Recent advances in biological pretreatment of microalgae and lignocellulosic biomass for biofuel production. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **105**, 105-128.
- Zhang, H., Dai, T., Huang, S., Xie, J. 2023a. Enhancement of enzymatic hydrolysis of sugarcane bagasse by the combination of delignification pretreatment and polysorbate 80. *Fermentation*, **9**(4), 371.
- Zhang, J., Geng, A., Yao, C., Lu, Y., Li, Q. 2012. Effects of lignin-derived phenolic compounds on xylitol production and key enzyme activities by a xylose utilizing yeast *Candida athensensis* SB18. *Bioresource Technology*, **121**, 369-378.
- Zhang, J., Zhang, B., Zhang, J., Lin, L., Liu, S., Ouyang, P. 2010. Effect of phosphoric acid pretreatment on enzymatic hydrolysis of microcrystalline cellulose. *Biotechnology Advances*, 28(5), 613-619.
- Zhang, Q., Deng, Y., Tan, X., Wang, W., Yu, Q., Chen, X., Miao, C., Guo, Y., Zhang, Y., Zhuang, X., Yuan, Z. 2020a. Biphasic fractionation of rice straw under mild condition in acidified 2-phenoxyethanol/water system. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 145, 112091.
- Zhang, X., Yang, W., Blasiak, W. 2011. Modeling study of woody biomass: Interactions of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. *Energy & Fuels*, 25(10), 4786-4795.
- Zhang, Y.-H.P., Cui, J., Lynd, L.R., Kuang, L.R. 2006. A transition from cellulose swelling to cellulose dissolution by o-phosphoric acid: Evidence from enzymatic hydrolysis and supramolecular structure. *Biomacromolecules*, 7(2), 644-648.

- Zhang, Y., Guo, Y., Xie, X., Chernyshev, V.M., Liu, Y., Qi, W. 2023b. Effects of phosphoric acid/hydrogen peroxide, ammonia/hydrogen peroxide and deep eutectic solvent pretreatments on component separation and enzymatic saccharification of *Glycyrrhiza residue*. *Industrial Crops and Products*, **196**, 116525.
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, H., Lee, D.-J., Zhang, T., Jiang, D., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Q. 2020b. Effect of enzymolysis time on biohydrogen production from photo-fermentation by using various energy grasses as substrates. *Bioresource Technology*, **305**, 123062.
- Zhang, Z., Zheng, H., Qian, J. 2022. Pretreatment with a combination of steam explosion and NaOH increases butanol production of enzymatically hydrolyzed corn stover. *Renewable Energy*.
- Zhao, L., Sun, Z.-F., Zhang, C.-C., Nan, J., Ren, N.-Q., Lee, D.-J., Chen, C. 2022. Advances in pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for bioenergy production: Challenges and perspectives. *Bioresource Technology*, 343, 126123.
- Zhao, X., Zhang, L., Liu, D. 2012. Biomass recalcitrance. Part II: Fundamentals of different pre-treatments to increase the enzymatic digestibility of lignocellulose. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, 6(5), 561-579.
- Zhu, R., Yadama, V. 2018. Isolation and characterization of cellulose micro/nanofibrils from douglas fir. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 26(3), 1012-1023.
- Zininga, J.T., Puri, A.K., Dlangamandla, N., Wang, Z., Singh, S., Permaul, K. 2023. Integrated biorefinery of *Mucor circinelloides* biomass and sugarcane bagasse for application of high-value biopolymers. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*.
- Zoghlami, A., Paës, G. 2019. Lignocellulosic biomass: Understanding recalcitrance and predicting hydrolysis. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, **7**, 874.